

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Mutation Research 577 (2005) 92-117



www.elsevier.com/locate/molmut Community address: www.elsevier.com/locate/mutres

Review

'Close-fitting sleeves': DNA damage recognition by the UvrABC nuclease system

Bennett Van Houten^{a,*}, Deborah L. Croteau^a, Matthew J. DellaVecchia^a, Hong Wang^a, Caroline Kisker^b

 ^a Laboratory of Molecular Genetics, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, National Institutes of Health, 111 Alexander Drive, MD D3-01, Research Triangle Park, NC 27709, USA
 ^b Department of Pharmacology, Center for Structural Biology, SUNY, Stony Brook, NY, USA

> Received 28 January 2005; received in revised form 11 March 2005; accepted 11 March 2005 Available online 31 May 2005

Abstract

DNA damage recognition represents a long-standing problem in the field of protein–DNA interactions. This article reviews our current knowledge of how damage recognition is achieved in bacterial nucleotide excision repair through the concerted action of the UvrA, UvrB, and UvrC proteins. Published by Elsevier B.V.

Keywords: Protein-DNA interaction; Bacterial nucleotide excision repair; DNA damage recognition

Contents

	Prologue	93
1.	Introduction	93
2.	Discovery of the genes	93
3.	General mechanism	94
4.	Grasping the substrates: structures of some key DNA adducts	94
5.	UvrA	98
	5.1. UvrA zinc fingers: DNA binding motifs	98
	5.2. Structure and function of ATP binding domains	99
6.	UvrB	100
	6.1. UvrB crystal structure reveals a helicase fold	100
	6.2. Role of domain 2 and the β -hairpin for UvrA interaction and its effect on UvrB's ATPase activity	100

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 919 5417752; fax: +1 919 5417593.
 E-mail address: vanhout1@niehs.nih.gov (B. Van Houten).

^{0027-5107/\$ –} see front matter. Published by Elsevier B.V. doi:10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2005.03.013

	6.3.	Assessing the DNA hand-off from UvrA to UvrB using photoaffinity DNA substrates	103
	6.4.	UvrB as a model for the human repair protein, XPD	105
7.	UvrC		105
	7.1.	Coordination between damage recognition and UvrC incision	105
	7.2.	Catalytic mechanism of UvrC	106
	7.3.	UvrC homolog	107
8.	DNA	damage recognition and processing by UvrA, UvrB and UvrC	107
9.	So wh	at remains hidden higher up the sleeve: what is the nature of repair in vivo?	111
	Ackno	pwledgements	111
	Refere	ences	111

Prologue

One of the key aspects of science is problem definition. A few seminal papers in DNA repair and protein-DNA interactions have influenced much of my thinking in DNA damage recognition. In particular, two papers by Hanawalt and coworkers [1,2] have had a lasting impression on me. In 1965, Philip Hanawalt and Robert Haynes outlined an idea for damage recognition that was both elegant and prophetic: After observing that the Escherichia coli nucleotide excision repair system could act on a wide variety of DNA adducts, they stated, "The recognition step in the repair mechanism could be formally equivalent to threading the DNA through a close fitting 'sleeve' which gauges the closeness-of-fit to the Watson-Crick structure" [1]. The following review is dedicated to Professor Hanawalt's rich and lasting impact on my career as my laboratory has struggled to understand what I have called the damage recognition problem: how does a protein machine, made up of multiple protein subunits, first identify altered bases in a sea of non-damaged DNA, and secondly, after marking the site for the dual endonuclease activity of UvrC, faithfully remove and replace a damaged stretch of 12-13 nucleotides? Professor Hanawalt has been a shining beacon of inspiration and enthusiasm, and I am greatly indebted to his mentorship throughout my career. This review highlights recent work from my and several laboratories, but is not intended to be comprehensive, and I apologize in advance for any pertinent work that is not cited.

Ben Van Houten

1. Introduction

Structure-function studies using the tools of NMR, X-ray crystallography and biochemistry have helped define the parameters that modulate DNA damage recognition, but large gaps in our knowledge still exist. In this article, we first explore the nature of the substrates that are acted on by the UvrABC system, and then discuss each of the subunits in some detail. We consider how these three components work in concert to identify and remove damage. Finally, we outline what information is still beyond our grasp.

2. Discovery of the genes

In the early days of DNA repair, investigators studied UV-induced mutagenesis and cell death in bacteria. From these studies came the seminal observations that UV-induced DNA lesions were excised from DNA [3,4] and that repair synthesis occurred after excision [5]. In time, the process collectively became known as nucleotide excision repair (NER). The individual bacterial genes responsible for the nucleotide excision repair proteins were later discovered by complementation studies, curiously, in exactly the same order in which they operate in the NER pathway [6].

The NER genes are widely dispersed along the bacterial chromosome. The *uvrA* and *uvrB* genes are under the control of the SOS response (for a review see [7]) while the *uvrC* gene is not. The SOS system governs the up regulation of numerous genes in response to DNA damaging agents. This is significant because the UvrA protein is normally expressed at very low levels, 20–25 copies per cell, while after induction with a DNA damaging agent, UvrA levels rise ten-fold. Likewise, UvrB levels rise four-fold, from 250 copies per cell to 1000 copies (reviewed in [8]). Due to the labile character of UvrA and its low basal level of expression, it required 10 years to go from identification

of the gene to purification and characterization of the protein by Seeberg and Steinum [9].

Nucleotide excision repair, mediated by the UvrABC type proteins, exists in bacteria and archaea, but not in eukaryotic cells. Today, the sequences of more than 200 bacterial *uvrA* genes, 71 *uvrB* genes and 76 *uvrC* genes have been deposited in the Swiss-Protein database. These sequences provide a rich resource for comparative genomics. Thus, the identification of highly conserved residues becomes immediately apparent as functional analysis can be explored by site-directed mutagenesis.

3. General mechanism

A hypothetical scheme for key steps in the UvrABC damage recognition and incision reaction is shown (Fig. 1). In solution, UvrA dimer formation is driven by ATP [10]. While UvrA can recognize damaged DNA independent of UvrB, we believe it is the complex of UvrA and UvrB together that provide this function in vivo. UvrB interacts with the UvrA2 dimer in solution, creating an UvrA₂B or UvrA₂B₂ complex. Based on X-ray crystallography results, UvrB appears to be a monomer [11-13]: however, solution crosslinking studies and atomic force microscopy studies have suggested that UvrB can form a dimer in solution and on DNA ([14], H. Wang and Van Houten, unpublished observation). A heterotetramer consisting of two molecules each of UvrA and UvrB provides an attractive model for damage scanning in which UvrA, in association with one molecule of UvrB could scan each strand in a search for DNA adducts [14,15]. Once a damaged strand has been recognized, it is hypothesized that the DNA is bent and wrapped around one molecule of UvrB [14,16]. The other UvrB molecule would dissociate, allowing for the binding of UvrC to mediate the dual incision reactions. However, more definitive studies using analytical centrifugation and gel filtration chromatography are required to determine the exact oligomeric state of UvrB that is necessary for damage engagement. Thus, for the sake of simplicity, we refer to UvrB as a monomer, and due to the controversy regarding the stoichiometry of the proteins when they are in complex with each other, we have chosen to depict UvrA and UvrB together as the UvrAB complex. Within this UvrAB complex, UvrA initiates contact with the DNA and then facilitates the transfer of DNA to UvrB's DNA binding domain [17]. The cryptic ATPase activity of UvrB (the red nodule on UvrB, see Fig. 1) is activated in the context of the UvrAB:DNA complex and is required for damage verification. It is believed that UvrA hydrolyzes ATP, and affords its self-dissociation from the recognition complex leaving a salt resistant UvrB:DNA complex [18]. Before 3' incision by UvrC, UvrB must be in its ATP bound conformation [19]. UvrC catalyzes both incisions with the first incision four-phosphodiester bonds 3' to the lesion, and the second, eight-phosphodiester bonds away from the DNA lesion on the 5' side. The dual incisions create a 12-nucleotide stretch of DNA containing the lesion [20-23]. Following incision, DNA helicase II (UvrD) is required to release UvrC and the incised oligonucleotide, while DNA polymerase I is thought to remove UvrB from the non-damaged DNA strand during the repair synthesis [24,25]. DNA ligase I, encoded by the LigA gene, joins the newly synthesized DNA to the parent DNA, thus completing the NER pathway.

4. Grasping the substrates: structures of some key DNA adducts

Long before the genes were cloned and the proteins purified, it was recognized that UvrABC nucleotide excision repair removes a large number of structurally and chemically diverse set of DNA adducts [1]. These include: UV-induced pyrimidine dimers and 6-4 photoproducts, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon adducts, anticancer agents, interstrand adducts involving both strands and most recently, even protein–DNA crosslinks in vitro though possibly not in vivo ([26] and see Table 1 with references cited therein).

Several attempts have been made to correlate the structure and conformation of the DNA adducts with the rate of incision by the UvrABC nuclease complex [8]. It was recognized early on that the 6-4 photoproduct is more distorting than the cyclobutane pyrimidine dimer (TT pyrimidine dimer), and that the incision rate of 6-4 photoproducts is higher than that for TT pyrimidine dimers. These in vitro data nicely recapitulate the rate of removal of these adducts in vivo [122]. In another example, Van Houten and Snowden [32] determined that while a ring closed abasic site (AP) is very poorly incised, UvrABC incised the AP<ring-



Fig. 1. Graphic representation of catalytic mechanism. A hypothetical scheme for the key steps in the mechanism is shown; see the text for references and a more complete description. In solution, two molecules of UvrA form a dimer, presumably between the ABC ATPase modules and ATP binding drives dimer formation. The UvrA₂ complex possesses ATP/GTPase activity. UvrB can interact with this UvrA₂ dimer in solution or on DNA, creating the UvrA₂B complex. Upon binding to DNA, the UvrA₂B:DNA complex undergoes conformational changes. The DNA lesion remains in close contact with UvrA and then it is transferred to UvrB. UvrB is endowed with a cryptic ATPase activity (the red nodule on UvrB) that is activated in the context of UvrA₂B:DNA. In this complex, the DNA is unwound around the site of the lesion because UvrB has inserted its β -hairpin structure between the two strands of the DNA to facilitate damage verification. The DNA is also wrapped around UvrB. The UvrA molecules hydrolyze ATP and dissociate from the complex, thereby creating a stable UvrB:DNA complex. UvrC recognizes this UvrB:DNA complex. We have depicted one UvrC molecule with two catalytic sites. Before UvrC can make the 3' incision, UvrB must bind ATP, but not hydrolyze it. After the 3' incision is generated, a second incision events, the DNA remains stably bound to UvrB until UvrD, DNA pol I and ligase perform the repair synthesis reaction.

Category	Damaging agent	Lesion or adduct description	Repair by UvrABC	References
I. Single base modifications	4-Nitroquinoline-1-oxide	4NQO-purine adducts	+	[27–29]
	Apurinic/apyrimidinic sites	Abasic sites, reduced apurinic sites (ring opened)	+	[30–33]
	Aflatoxin-B1	Purine adducts, N^7 -guanine, formamidopyrimidine	++	[34–38]
	Alkoxyamine modified AP sites	AP analog	++	[39,40]
	Anthramycin	<i>N</i> ² -Guanine	+++	[41-43]
	Cholesterol	Synthetically prepared cholesterol adducted base	+++	[44]
	Fluorescein	Synthetically prepared fluorescein adducted thymine	+++	[17]
	Ionizing radiation	Dihydrothymine, <i>N</i> -glycoside- β -ureido iodobutyric acid Urea residues/thymine glycol HO-C ⁵ , C ⁶ -thymine	Not repaired/++	[30,45,46]
	Menthol	Synthetically prepared menthol adducted base	+	[47]
	Multi-functional alkylating agents	O^4 -Alkyl thymine, O^6 -methyl guanine, N^6 -methyl adenine	Not repaired/+	[48–52]
	N-Acetoxy-2- acetylaminofluorene (AAF), N-hydroxy-aminofluorene (AF)	C ⁸ -Guanine	++	[53-60]
	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)	N^2 -Guanine, bezno[<i>a</i>]pyrene diol epoxide, methylchrysene/ C^8 -guanine, L-nitropyrene	+++/++	[37,60–69]
	Psoralen	Mono-adduct (e.g. 8-methoxypsoralen (8-MOP) and 4,5',8-trimethylpsoralen (TMP).	+++	[20,55,70–74]
II. Intra- and Inter-strand Cross links	CC-1065	N ³ -Adenine	++	[75–77]
	Cisplatin	N ⁷ -Guanine, GG, AG/GxG	++/+++	[78-84]
	Cyclohexylcarbodiimide	Unpaired T and G residues	++/+++	[85]
	DNA-protein/DNA-peptide cross links	Chemically induced	+/++	[26,68,86–88]
	Mitomycin C, N-methylmitomycin A	N^7 -Guanine; O^6 -methyl guanine, N^2 -Guanine	++	[6,89–93]
	<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> '-Bis(2-chloroethyl)- <i>N</i> - <i>nitrosourea</i>	Bifunctional alkylation	++	[89,94,95]
	Nitrogen mustard	Bifunctional alkylation	++	[89,93,95]
	N'-Methyl-N- nitronitrosoguanidine (MNNG)	<i>O</i> ⁶ -Methyl guanine	++	[50,52,96]
	Psoralen UV irradiation	C ⁵ , C ⁶ -Thymine; bisadduct Pyrimidine dimer (C ⁵ ,	+++ ++/+++	[20,55,70,74,97–102] [20,28,68,103–106]

Table 1 DNA damage recognized by UvrABC

C⁶-pyrimidine), 6-4-photoproduct

Table 1	(Continued	1
---------	------------	---

Category	Damaging agent	Lesion or adduct description	Repair by UvrABC	References
III. Natural Bases	A-tracts dsDNA Extrahelical bases or loops in DNA	АААА	Not repaired Not repaired Not repaired	[8,46] [8] [85]
	Mismatches Sequence-specific bends	A-G; G-G	Not repaired/++ Not repaired	[73,85] [8,107]
IV. Backbone modifications	2-Aminobutyl-1,3- propanediol (ABPD)	Synthetically modified	+	[73]
	Azidophenacyl bromide	Synthetically modified, phosphorothioate linkage	+	[17]
	Cholesterol, Chol-S, Chol-P	Synthetically modified, tethered to backbone	+++	[15,47,83,108,109]
	Fluorescein	Synthetically modified, tethered to backbone	+++	[68,110–112]
	Phosphorothioate, methyl phosphorothioate	Synthetically modified	+	[17,113]
	Phosphotriesters		Not repaired	[8,46]
	Single nucleotide gap	Synthetically modified	+++	[17,108]
	Single strand nick (3' or 5') in dsDNA with modified bases	Synthetically modified	+++	[17,31,109,114]
	Single strand nick in dsDNA	Synthetically modified	+++	[17,108]
V. Intercalators	Actinomycin D Caffeine Chloroquine		Inhibits repair Inhibits repair Inhibits repair	[115] [115–117] [116]
	Ditercalanium Doxorubicin/AD32 Ethidium Bromide Hoechst 33258	Noncovalent bisintercalator	++ + Inhibits repair Inhibits repair	[118,119] [120,121] [115] [115]

Repair key: +, 0–25%; ++: 25–50%; +++: >50%; see individual references for greater detail.

opened AP < methoxyamine-AP < benzoxyamine-AP. The general rule seems to be that the larger the chemical substituents on the DNA, the higher the rate and extent of incision by the complete UvrABC nuclease system.

Studies by Hoare, using aromatic hydrocarbons further confirmed that the size of the chemical moiety greatly affected the extent and rate of incision [66]. She found that nitropyrene-C⁸-dG adduct is incised at a rate < (-)*cis*-anti-BPDE- N^2 -dG \leq (+)*trans*-anti-methylcrysene- N^2 -dG adduct. Even the stereochemistry of identical chemical adducts can affect incision as we found with (±)-*cis* or -*trans*-BPDE- N^2 -dG adducts [64]. (±)-*cis*-BPDE adducts form a base-displaced structure in which the BPDE is stacked into the helix and either one or both of the adjacent guanine and cytidine residues are displaced outside the helix. In contrast, the (\pm) -*trans*-BPDE adducts bind in the minor groove with little disruption of base pairs, but lead to a dynamic opening and bending of the DNA. The (+)-*trans* displays a stronger perturbation than the (-)-*trans*, suggesting an explanation for the differential recognition by the prokaryotic NER machinery [123]. The UvrABC system incised the *cis*-BPDE adducts better than the *trans*-BPDE and also the stereochemistry affected cleavage with the plus enantiomers being removed better than the minus. It is interesting to note that the (-)-*trans*-BDPE lies in the 3' direction with respect to the modified dG and apparently interfered with the normal 3' incision site [64].

Geacintov et al. [124] have suggested that the thermostability of the DNA helix is affected by both

sequence context and the overall extent of adduct disruption can greatly affect recognition by the NER proteins. Verhoeven tested this hypothesis by measuring incision of the same DNA adduct in several sequence contexts. They clearly showed that the incision of the same DNA adduct varied depending on sequence contexts [83]. Thus, surrounding sequence can alter the conformation of a DNA adduct.

DNA repair proteins must be finely tuned by evolution to be able to discriminate damaged DNA from non-damaged DNA. Otherwise, it has been suggested that the repair machinery might promiscuously incise non-damaged DNA, leading to potential mutagenesis during gratuitous gap filling [113]. To this end, Sancar and coworkers [113] have suggested that both bacterial and human NER systems can occasionally incise non-damaged DNA. It is interesting to note that single nucleotide gaps and even nicks are bonafide substrates for the UvrABC system [17,108]. The possibility exists that these proteins play a potential role in other DNA processes besides repair. Curiously, the double polA/uvrB mutant is not viable, thus suggesting a wider role for UvrB in DNA maintenance beyond just repair (reviewed in [8]).

Most recently, it has been shown that protein-DNA cross-links are substrates for UvrABC [87], and that larger protein-DNA cross-links are repaired less efficiently than oligopeptide cross-links. These data suggest that protein-DNA cross-links might be processed to smaller oligopeptides by endogenous proteases [88] and that there is an upper limit to the size of the lesion that can be acted on by the NER machinery. The current challenge for the field is to develop a recognition model that can account for the entire substrate repertoire using rigorous structural and thermodynamic principles that combine information regarding the structure and conformation of the DNA lesion, with the interaction of residues on UvrA and UvrB. Before we can discuss recognition in any greater detail, it is important to become familiar with the individual proteins.

5. UvrA

Bacterial *uvrA* genes encode proteins (103–105 kDa) whose primary sequence reveals the presence of two zinc finger motifs and two ATP binding cassette ATPase (ABC ATPase) domains [125,126].

Structurally, UvrA is thought to contain two domains separated by a flexible protease sensitive linker region (see Fig. 2). The N- and C-terminal domains each contain one ABC-type ATPase domain interrupted by a Cys₄-type zinc finger. While the N- and C-terminal domains contain a high degree of homology within the ATPase cassettes, they vary considerably outside these regions. The ABC ATPase domain is usually a contiguous stretch of about 200 amino acids. However, in UvrA, this domain is interrupted by the insertion of about 390 amino acids in the N-terminal domain. while the C-terminal domain contains an additional 130 amino acids. Besides the zinc fingers within these inserted domains, there are no other remarkable features. The function of the amino acids within these inserted domains is currently unknown.

5.1. UvrA zinc fingers: DNA binding motifs

The zinc fingers contained in UvrA have the consensus sequence of CysX₂CysX₁₈₋₂₀CysX₂Cys in which the four cysteine residues coordinate one zinc molecule [127]. While the two zinc fingers share the same spacing, the primary amino acids are quite different. Furthermore, the N-terminal zinc finger is less well conserved than the C-terminal zinc finger. Consistent with this observation is that mutations in the N-terminal zinc finger have little effect on NER and therefore, it was concluded this zinc finger is not essential for NER in vitro [128]. However, amino acid substitutions that disrupt the C-terminal zinc finger lead to insoluble proteins and rendered the bacterium profoundly sensitive to cell killing by UV [128]. In an additional study, it was shown that the C-terminal zinc finger mutation C763F creates a UvrA mutant protein that retained no in vivo repair activity and failed to bind to DNA, but retained vigorous ATPase activity [129]. Based on these results, it was concluded that the Cterminal zinc finger is primarily responsible for UvrA's DNA binding capacity. While it has been shown that mutations of the cysteines in the C-terminal zinc finger give rise to dysfunctional proteins, we cannot conclude from these studies that the zinc finger is responsible for DNA binding. It is likely that global changes occurred in UvrA as a result of these cysteine mutations. Therefore, while it is likely that the C-terminal zinc fingers are involved in DNA binding, site-directed mutagenesis is required to address the role of the C-terminal



Fig. 2. Linear representation of the genes. UvrA: two domains are separated by a flexible protease-sensitive linker region. Within each domain, there is one ABC ATPase motif, a zinc finger and an insertion domain. The two domains are shown in gray and yellow, while the linker region is shown in beige. The conserved ABC ATPase motifs are shown in red and orange and the zinc fingers are shown in blue and green. The gray crosshatched area marks the inserted domains. UvrB: the six-helicase motifs (red) of uvrB are shown above the graphic, while the domain organization and β -hairpin element are listed below. UvrC: the position of the 3' nucleolytic center (blue) is denoted by the GIY-YIG below the graphic. The UvrB interacting domain is known as the UVR domain (gray hatched). The 5' nuclease center (orange) has homology to EndoV and the final element is the tandem helix–hairpin–helix (green).

zinc finger in DNA binding and possibly damage recognition.

5.2. Structure and function of ATP binding domains

The ABC-type ATPase superfamily is well established and the majority of proteins in this category, whose functions are known, are involved in transport events. There are a few DNA metabolizing enzymes, notably Rad50 [130], MutS [131,132] and the structural maintenance of chromosome (SMC) proteins [133,134], whose crystal structures are known that also possess an ABC-type ATP binding fold. All of the proteins in this superfamily function as dimers or higher order oligomers. The ABC-type ATP binding fold is responsible for creating a dimerization interface between two subunits. This interface is created between two molecules in such a way that ATP is bound between the Walker A motif of one subunit and the signature sequence and Walker B elements of the other subunit (for a review see [135]). In such an arrangement, each ABC dimer can bind two molecules of ATP along its dimerization interface. Generally, it is believed that ATP binding serves to stabilize the dimer architecture, while ATP hydrolysis is thought to drive dissociation of the subunits. We believe UvrA functions in a similar way as other ABC ATPases, although UvrA is slightly more complicated because of the fact that each monomer possesses two ABC-type ATPases domains.

UvrA forms a dimer with an association constant on the order of $K_A \sim 10^8 M^{-1}$ [136]. Myles and Sancar [137] experimentally separated UvrA into two domains and showed that the N-terminal domain possessed both the ability to dimerize and hydrolyze ATP, while the independent C-terminal domain failed to do either. The C-terminal domain is reminiscent of other isolated ABC ATPases that are monomeric [138–140] when separated from their transmembrane domains. While the N-terminal and C-terminal ABC ATPase domains could potentially interact, Myles and Sancar [137] concluded that UvrA dimerizes in a head-to-head fashion. Several factors influence the dimerization status of UvrA: high protein concentrations, ATP and the poorly hydrolyzable ATP analog, ATP γ S, each promote dimerization [10,141,142]. Thus, UvrA dimerization could be a key point of regulation in the NER pathway.

UvrA is a DNA-independent ATPase that can hydrolyze both ATP and GTP [9,143,144]. Site-directed mutagenesis of the two Walker A motifs, GKS to GAS, a mutation which in other ABC ATPases abolishes ATP hydrolysis, demonstrated that the C-terminal Walker A site has a higher affinity for ATP than the N-terminal site [136,145]. It was also demonstrated that there is cooperativity in ATP hydrolysis between the two sites and mutagenesis of the N-terminal Walker A site destroys this cooperativity [136,145]. As is the case with other ABC ATPases, the ATP binding sites in UvrA are not equivalent, but are allosterically regulated [136,146]. The precise nature of this allosteric regulation is currently unknown.

In addition to the above-mentioned regulators of UvrA, both DNA and UvrB possess the ability to modulate the dimerization status and ATPase activity of UvrA. The consequences of UvrA's interactions with DNA and UvrB will be discussed within the context of damage recognition below.

6. UvrB

UvrB is considered the central recognition protein in bacterial NER as it interacts with all the components of the repair system: UvrA, UvrC, UvrD, polymerase I and damaged DNA [147,148] (see Fig. 2 for a linear graphic of the *uvrB* gene and Fig. 3 for the domain structure of the protein). In lieu of a historical review of the literature on UvrB, we have compiled a table of all the mutants created in UvrB thus far (see Table 2 and references cited therein) and have included a brief review below.

6.1. UvrB crystal structure reveals a helicase fold

Sequence analysis has shown that UvrB contains six helicase motifs [159] with similarity to XPD and XPB, two helicases involved in eukaryotic NER. Successful crystallization of the UvrB protein from different organisms [11–13] and most recently the Y96A variant from *Bacillus caldotenax* [144], have allowed a more in-depth view into this key component of bacterial NER. The original structure of UvrB determined by our groups revealed that it contained all the elements of an intact helicase, including all residues implicated in coupling ATP hydrolysis to strand translocation [13]. In addition, high structural similarity to two other helicases, NS3 and PcrA, was observed, thus suggesting that UvrB functions as a helicase adapted for NER. Furthermore, based on these similarities, it was proposed that the UvrB DNA binding sites would be located in or near domains 1a and 3 (Fig. 3) leading to a padlock model, which utilizes a β -hairpin emerging from the first helicase domain to clasp one strand of the DNA between the β-hairpin and domain 1b as the DNA is scanned for damage [13,160]. This model has been supported by DNA photoaffinity labeling in conjunction with site-directed mutagenesis of the UvrB protein (discussed below) together they have provided additional evidence that the non-damaged strand is being held between the β-hairpin and domain 1b during the pre-incision complex phase of NER [17].

It is believed that both bacterial and eukaryotic NER systems employ helicase activity to unwind DNA for damage verification. It has been stated that the UvrAB protein complex can simultaneously "scan and sense" the DNA duplex for damaged sites [161], although it is not known how long the UvrAB complex will scan after each binding event. While it has been suggested that the UvrAB complex has helicase activity, it can only destabilize short oligonucleotides of less than 30 bases upon binding. Therefore, UvrB is not acting as a true helicase, but due to limited strand opening destabilizes short stretches of DNA [110]. Our padlock model [160] predicts the following: when the UvrAB complex locates a lesion, UvrB harnesses the energy of a bound ATP molecule in conjunction with the β-hairpin region of UvrB in order to impose an unfavorable conformation on the DNA, thus facilitating recognition and incision by UvrC.

6.2. Role of domain 2 and the β -hairpin for UvrA interaction and its effect on UvrB's ATPase activity

UvrB has been extensively mutagenized in order to decipher its biological functions (see Table 2 and Fig. 3). In Fig. 3, the black circles represent mutations that give rise to altered function, while the gray circles are mutants that have no significant defects. The structure of the Y96A variant allowed, for the first time, a detailed atomic analysis of domain 2 of UvrB [144], one

Table 1	2						
UvrB :	mutations	prepared	in E.	coli	or B.	caldotena	х

Mutation ^a		Domain	ATPase	DNA protein	Repair ABC	UV survival	References
E. coli	B. caldotenax			complexes	incision		
WT	WT		+UvrA	AB, B, BC	3' then 5'	WT	See references below
D15A (D16)		1a	NR	NR	NR	\sim WT	[22]
G39D		1a	NR	NR	NR	Reduced	[149]
G39S		1a	NR	NR	NR	Reduced	[149]
G44R		1a	NR	NR	NR	Reduced	[149]
K45A		1a	Defective	AB, no B	Defective	Defective	[150]
K45D		1a	NR	NR	NR	Defective	[150]
K45R		1a	NR	NR	NR	Defective	[150]
N51A		1a	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	[150]
N51K		1a	NR	NR	NR	\sim WT	[150]
V52D		1a	NR	NR	NR	\sim WT	[150]
153R		1a	NR	NR	NR	\sim WT	[150]
D55A (Q55)		1a	NR	NR	NR	\sim WT	[150]
F88W (F89)		1a	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	[151]
β-Hairpin mutations							
	Y92A	βh	Enhanced	AB, $B \sim WT$	Reduced	NR	[112]
Y92W		βh	NR	\sim WT	Reduced	NR	[68]
Y92A/Y93A		βh	Enhanced	Reduced B	Reduced/BC incision	NR	[152]
D93A (D94)		βh	NR	NR	\sim WT	Reduced	[22]
	Y93A	βh	Reduced	AB, reduced B	Reduced	NR	[112]
Y95F		βh	NR	~WT	NR	NR	[68]
Y95W		βh	NR	B enhanced	\sim WT	NR	[68]
Y95A/Y96A		βh	Enhanced	AB, no B	Defective/BC incision	Defective	[152]
Y95W/Y96W		ßh	NR	Defective	NR	NR	[68]
	Y96A	ßh	~WT	AB. no B	Defective	NR	[112.144]
Y96W		ßh	NR	Defective	NR	NR	[68]
E98A (E99)		ßh	NR	ND	3' only	NR	[151]
	E99A	Bh	Reduced	AB, no B	Defective	NR	[112]
Y101A/F108A		βh	Enhanced	AB, no B	Defective	Defective	[152]
Y101W		βh	NR	Defective	Reduced	NR	[68]
D105A (D106)		βh	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
F107W (Y108)		βh	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	[151]
	E110A	βh	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	NR	[111]
	E110R	βh	Enhanced	\sim WT	\sim WT	NR	[111]
	K111A	βh	Reduced	AB, $B \sim WT$	Reduced	NR	[112]
D111A (D112)		βh	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
	R123A	1a	Reduced	AB, no B	Defective	NR	[112]
	H124A	1a	\sim WT	B enhanced	\sim WT	NR	[112]
D134A (D135)		1a	NR	NR	\sim WT	$\sim WT$	[22]
Domain 2							
D167A (E168)		2	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
	R183E	2	↓/↑GTPase	Reduced B	Reduced	NR	[144]
F187W (F188)		2	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	[151]
	R194A/R196A	2	↓/↑GTPase	\sim WT	\sim WT	NR	[144]
	R194E/R196E	2	↓/↑GTPase	Reduced B	Reduced	NR	[144]
	R213A/E215A	2	↓/↑GTPase	\sim WT	\sim WT	NR	[144]

Table 2 (Continued)

Mutation ^a		Domain	ATPase	DNA protein	Repair ABC	UV survival	References
E. coli	B. caldotenax			complexes	incision		
F216W (F217)		2	$\sim WT$	~WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	[151]
H247A (H248)		1b	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
	F249A	1b	Reduced	AB, $B \sim WT$	\sim WT	NR	[112]
E265A (E266)		1b	NR	ND	3' only	NR	[151]
	R289A	1b	Reduced	AB, $B \sim WT$	\sim WT	NR	[112]
	R289A/R367A	1b	Reduced	AB, $B \sim WT$	Reduced	NR	[112]
	E307A	1b	Reduced	AB, reduced B	Reduced	NR	[112]
D326A (D327)		1a	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
D331A (D332)		1a	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
D337A (D338)		1a	Defective	AB, \sim WT	<5% WT	Defective	[22]
E338A (E339)		1a	NR	ND	3' only	Reduced	[151]
	D338N	1a	Reduced	AB, no B	Defective	NR	[111]
H340F (H341)		1a	NR	NR	\sim WT	Reduced	[22]
	H341A	1a	\sim WT	\sim WT	Reduced	NR	[111]
D353A (D354)		1b	NR	NR	\sim WT	Reduced	[22]
F365W (F366)		1b	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	\sim WT	[151]
. ,	R367A	1b	Reduced	AB, reduced B	Reduced	NR	[112]
D372A (D373)		1b	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
D419A		3	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
D433A		3	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
D478A (E478)		3	Enhanced	AB. ~WT	< 5% WT	Defective	[22,151]
F496W (D496)		3	~WT	~WT	~WT	~WT	[151]
G502R (G501)		3	NR	NR	NR	NR	[149]
G502R/G509D		3	NR	NR	NR	NR	[149]
(G501/G508)		5			1.11	1.11	[1.02]
(0001/0000)	R506A	3	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced	NR	[111]
G509S (G508)	100011	3	Reduced	AB. no B	ND	~WT	[149,153]
D510A		3	Reduced	Low/AB ~WT	Defective	Defective	[21,22,151]
201011	D510A	3	Reduced	AB, no B	Defective	NR	[111]
	D510N	3	Enhanced	~WT	Reduced	NR	[111]
E514K (E513)	201011	3	~WT	AB B low C	Reduced	~WT	[149,153]
E514K/R541H		3	Defective	AB, no B	ND	~WT	[149]
(E513/R540)		5	Deletare	112, 110 2	112		[1.02]
D521A		3	NR	NR	\sim WT	Reduced	[22]
D523A		3	NR	NR	~WT	Reduced	[22]
F527W		3	~WT	~WT	~WT	~WT	[151]
152710	F527A	3	~WT	Enhanced B	Reduced	NR	[131]
R544H (R543)	1.52/11	3	Defective	AB, no B	ND	~WT	[149,153]
H581F		3	NR	NR	~WT	~WT	[22]
D594A		3	NR	NR	~WT	Reduced	[22]
		5	1111	1.112	** 1	muutu	[22]
C-Terminal "coiled-	-coil"						[00]
K634A		4	NR	NR	~WT	~WT	[22]
H636F		4	NR	NR	~WT	~WT	[22]
E637A		4	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
E639A (E640)		4	\sim WT	\sim WT	Defective	Defective	[22]
E640A		4	NR	Normal C	\sim WT	\sim WT	[153]
H645F		4	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
E650A		4	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
E652A		4	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
F652L		4	Hyper + UvrA	\sim WT	3': ↓, 5':~WT	NR	[154,155]

Table 2 (Continued)

Mutation ^a		Domain ATPase	DNA protein	Repair ABC	UV survival	References	
E. coli	B. caldotenax			complexes	incision		
R658A		4	NR	NR	~WT	~WT	[22]
D659A		4	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
H662F		4	Hyper - UvrA	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
E666A		4	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
S672A		4	NR	NR	\sim WT	\sim WT	[22]
Domain deletions							
574Δ			NR	AB	1–2% WT	NR	[153]
609∆ (UvrB*)			↑ - UvrA	AB	<0.1–1% WT	Reduced	[22,143,153,
							156-158]
630Δ			NR	AB, BC	1% WT	NR	[153]
649Δ			NR	AB, BC	2% WT	NR	[153]
	Δ2 (Δ154–247)		↓/↑GTPase	A enhanced	Defective	NR	[17,144]
	$\Delta\beta$ -hairpin (Δ 97–112)		Hyper + UvrA	AB enhanced	Defective	NR	[17,110,144]
MBP/UvrB	• • •		NR	Binds to A	NR	NR	[151]
(115-250)							
			NR	DNA binding,	NR	NR	[151]
MBP/UvrB(251-	-546)			no A or C			
			NR	Binds to A and C	NR	NR	[151]
MBP/UvrB(547-	-673)						

NR = not reported; ND = not detected; \sim WT = wild-type like activity, see individual reference for more detail; enhanced or \uparrow = greater than WT; reduced or \downarrow = less than WT; ATPase activity is in the presence of UvrA and UV-irradiated DNA unless otherwise noted; MBP = maltose binding protein. UvrB^{*}, deletion mutant of UvrB.

^a Mutations are listed under the species in which they were prepared as reported in the original literature cited in the far right column. The reader may observe slight discrepancies in numbering and/or residue due to the inclusion or omission of Met1 when numbering the protein sequences and the fact that the two proteins are not 100% conserved. When necessary, in the *E. coli* column, residues in parenthesis are included to indicate the analogous residue in the sequence of UvrB from *B. caldotenax* and are labeled as such on the UvrB structure shown in Fig. 3.

of the two regions responsible for the interaction with UvrA. Due to more favorable crystal packing, domain 2 was visualized and a new protein fold was determined for this domain, which shares sequence homology to Mfd [162]. Mfd is a bacterial transcription-coupling repair factor that recruits UvrA to sites of DNA damage marked by a stalled RNA polymerase [162]. Examination of several point mutations in highly conserved residues in UvrB and Mfd, as well as deletion of the entire domain 2, demonstrated that domain 2 [144] is essential for binding to UvrA, and thus important for subsequent: (1) destabilization of short duplex regions in DNA; (2) forming a UvrB–DNA pre-incision complex; (3) incision; and (4) coupled hydrolysis of ATP and domain 3 closure.

It is well documented that the UvrABC system requires ATP binding and hydrolysis to function properly. Using an enzyme-coupled assay, we have reported that in the presence of damaged DNA, UvrA exhibits similar levels of ATPase and GTPase activity, whereas wild type UvrB alone has very low ATPase activity that is barely above background and no GTPase activity [144]. An interesting observation reported in this study is a nearly seven-fold hyper-ATPase activity, and a decrease in GTPase activity when UvrA is combined with the $\Delta\beta$ -hairpin mutant ($\Delta\betah$, lacks the β -hairpin) in the presence of damaged DNA. These activities are attributed to the fact that the UvrA dimer can recruit the UvrB $\Delta\betah$ protein to the site of the DNA damage, but the defective $\Delta\betah$ cannot verify the damage. Thus, a successful hand off of the DNA from UvrA to UvrB is prevented. Therefore, the UvrB mutant hydrolyzes ATP continuously, unsuccessfully trying to engage the damage. This data correlates well with our padlock model.

6.3. Assessing the DNA hand-off from UvrA to UvrB using photoaffinity DNA substrates

It is important to reiterate that a key step of NER that is still poorly understood is the transfer of damaged



Fig. 3. Graphic representation of mutations created within UvrB. All of the mutations that have been made in the UvrB protein were overlaid onto the crystal structure of *B. caldotenax* (PDB 1T5L [144]) and the solution structure (PDB 1E52 [183]). The structural features of the UvrB protein are: domain 1a, yellow; β -hairpin, light blue; domain 1b, green; domain 2, blue; domain 3, red; domain 4, magenta (inset). Two mutations are depicted with orange balls to denote the fact that there are conflicting results reported in the literature regarding the activities of these mutants, E640 and H341. Mutations with wild type-like phenotypes and/or less than 20% reduction in incision activity are depicted as small gray spheres. Substitutions that produced a protein whose incision activity was reduced by more than 20% of wild type are shown as large purple spheres with the corresponding amino acid numbered within.

DNA from UvrA to UvrB. Most recently, our laboratory has analyzed this transfer utilizing photoaffinity probes incorporated into DNA [17]. We have utilized two types of arylazido-modified photoaffinity reagents that, by design, probe protein contact sites on both the damaged and non-damaged sides of the DNA. DNAprotein photoaffinity cross-linking in conjunction with several site-directed mutations and two domain deletions, $\Delta 2$ and the $\Delta\beta$ -hairpin, of UvrB has allowed a visualization of the architecture of the DNA when it is in complex with UvrA and UvrB. We can now dissect the molecular handoff of DNA from UvrA to UvrB into discrete steps. The most important step being Uvr isomerization in which UvrB is in close proximity to the adduct within the UvrA₂B complex, prior to UvrA dissociation. We believe that the β -hairpin deletion and Y96A mutants are arrested during this normally transient step that proceeds by insertion of the non-damaged strand into the pocket between the β -hairpin and domain 1b. This is followed by engagement of the damaged strand at the base of the β -hairpin through aromatic residues, primarily Tyr96.

6.4. UvrB as a model for the human repair protein, XPD

UvrB shares 15% sequence identity and 62% similarity with XPD [111]. By modeling the XPD protein based on the crystal structure of UvrB [13], several xeroderma pigmentosum disease-like mutations were successfully mimicked in vitro in UvrB. The success of this study demonstrates the ability to gain a molecular understanding of the NER process in humans by studying their bacterial protein counterparts [111]. These data strongly suggest that while UvrB and XPD show little sequence conservation, they play homologous roles of strand opening and damage verification in the bacterial and human NER repair pathways, respectively.

While we have learned a great deal from the sitedirected mutagenesis studies, much is still to be discovered, such as where does the DNA lie in the protein–DNA complex? Also, since the coiled-coiled domain (Fig. 3, inset) has remained elusive in the crystal structures that have been solved thus far, it is not known where this element exists structurally and what other functions it contributes.

7. UvrC

Similar to UvrA, UvrC is weakly expressed constitutively, resulting in about 10–20 copies per cell [115]. UvrC contains two constrained endonuclease active sites, which mediate incision of damaged DNA only after recognition of the UvrB–DNA pre-incision complex [20]. Site-directed mutagenesis revealed that the N-terminal nuclease center is responsible for 3' incision, while the C-terminal center carries out the 5' cutting [21,23]. The 3' incision is believed to occur prior to the 5' incision [20–23].

Aside from the two distinct catalytic sites, UvrC possesses a coiled–coiled region and a tandem Helix–hairpin–Helix (HhH) domain (see Fig. 2). The coiled-coil domain of UvrC is proposed to interact with the C-terminal domain of UvrB [153, Moolenaar, 1998 #18]. This interaction is critical for 3' incision, whereas the 5' incision is apparently independent of this interaction [153,154]. The two HhH motifs are implicated in DNA binding [163,164].

7.1. Coordination between damage recognition and UvrC incision

Although UvrC does not interact with UvrA, earlier studies suggested that it might interact with the UvrB protein in solution because both proteins co-migrate during protein purification steps [165]. Once UvrA has been displaced from the UvrAB–DNA complex, UvrC is believed to interact with the C-terminal coiled–coiled domain of UvrB forming the UvrBC–DNA complex, which catalyzes the dual incisions.

Not surprisingly, the UvrC binding and incision reactions are highly dependent upon the previous steps. It has been shown that incision efficiency can vary six-fold on DNA substrates containing the same acetylaminofluorene-deoxyguanine (AAF-dG) adduct, but in different sequence contexts [166]. However, there was no difference in the formation of the UvrAB complex [166,167]. The incision reaction was also shown to be inversely related to the stability of the UvrB–DNA pre-incision complex [167]. These data suggest that after the release of UvrA from the UvrAB-DNA complex, an isomerization step converts UvrB from an inactive pre-incision complex to an active form that is required for the formation of a productive incision complex. More recently, Moolenaar reinvestigated the UvrBC transition and discovered that ATP hydrolysis and subsequent ATP binding by UvrB is required to create an active UvrBC-DNA incision complex [19]. Thus, the isomerization step could be the ATP exchange reaction that couples the UvrB and UvrC protein activities.

Examination of the incision efficiency on DNA substrates containing a flap or bubble of varying size revealed that the UvrAB complex may induce local DNA structure alterations including unpaired bases [65]. These unpaired regions on DNA might serve as the key feature of the damage verification process allowing the UvrB–DNA pre-incision complex to be recognized by UvrC further setting the stage for incision.

It was suggested that UvrBC might have two DNA binding modes: one that supports 3' and another that supports 5' incision [65]. In the mode leading to 3' incision, the binding of UvrBC to DNA includes a dsDNA region three bases 3' to the damaged site. The 3' incision can relieve the DNA stress and lead to further opening of the DNA. Meanwhile, the 5' incision mode

may require a large number of unpaired bases 3' to the damaged site. This is consistent with the fact that the HhH DNA binding domain is required for stabilization of UvrBC–DNA complex after the 3' incision [163]. In addition, a truncated UvrC protein lacking this HhH domain no longer binds to ssDNA [163]. Furthermore, it has been reported that 3' incision is dependent on ATP binding by UvrB, whereas the 5' is not [19]. This observation also supports the notion that the two catalytic sites on UvrC require the DNA be presented in structurally different ways for each incision event to occur.

Moolenaar et al. [153] concluded that the UvrAB complex processes the DNA into an incision competent structure and that the C-terminal coiled–coiled domain of UvrB interacts with a similar internal domain of UvrC in order to recruit UvrC to the sites of incision. However, several intriguing questions arise: does the same UvrC molecule produce both cuts? What are the other structural features of the UvrB–DNA pre-incision complex that UvrC recognizes and interacts with? What conformational changes take place within UvrC and the DNA substrate after recognition of the UvrB–DNA pre-incision complex?

7.2. Catalytic mechanism of UvrC

A common feature of the catalytic mechanism observed with many nucleases is the requirement for a bound metal ion as a cofactor. Metal ions can act as Lewis acids by lowering the pK_a of their directly coordinated water molecules. Most importantly, positive charges of the divalent metal ions help to neutralize the negative charges in the transition state [168]. However, the requirements regarding the types and numbers of metals (one, two or even three) involved in catalysis are complicated.

As mentioned before, UvrC has two catalytic sites, one on the N- and C-terminal halves of UvrC, respectively. The region of UvrC that is located between the UVR domain and the HhH motifs in the C-terminal half showed subtle but statistically significant similarity to endonuclease V [169]. Multiple sequence alignments of EndoV family members with the UvrC sequence revealed the conservation of two aspartic acids and a lysine [169]. Previously, it was shown that mutation of the conserved Asp399 and Asp466 in *E. coli* UvrC abolished the 5' incision [21]. UvrC with mutation of Asp438 or His538 were also defective in 5' incision [21]. However, so far, there is no available structure of the C-terminal catalytic domain of UvrC. Therefore, the exact catalytic mechanism of the 5' incision still remains to be deciphered.

The catalytic domain in the N-terminal of UvrC shares limited homology with a small module found in members of the GIY-YIG homing endonuclease family [169]. Quite recently, the N-terminal catalytic domains of UvrC from B. caldotenax and Thermotoga maritima have been solved [170]. The structure of UvrC^{N-Tma} revealed for the first time the exact coordination geometry of the metal ion that is required for catalysis of a member of the GIY-YIG superfamily. It was suggested that this domain employs a novel one-metal mechanism to cleave the phosphodiester bond [170]. This suggestion is based on the identification of a patch of highly conserved residues on the surface of the N-terminal domain of UvrC surrounding a divalent cation-water cluster. Mapping of the sequence conservation of UvrC from different organisms onto the surface revealed six strictly conserved residues that formed a patch on one side of the surface, namely Tyr19, Tyr29, Lys32, Arg39, Glu76 and Asn88 in T. maritima UvrC. Four highly conserved residues surround these residues: Tyr43, Glu69, Phe73 and Ile80. Together, these residues form a concave surface large enough to accommodate double stranded DNA. Glu76 is the only residue that makes direct contact to the bound metal ion $(Mn^{2+} \text{ or } Mg^{2+})$, while Tyr29, Ile30, and Lys32 form hydrogen bonds with one of the five water molecules coordinating the metal ion in an octahedral arrangement. Mutational analyses of the residues on the conserved surface in full length UvrC have shown that mutation of the sole metal ligand, Glu76 (which is invariant in all known GIY-YIG family members), to alanine inactivates its incision activity. Mutation of Ile80, that forms part of the metal binding pocket, to glutamate, also renders the protein inactive. It was suggested that one of the water molecules coordinated to the metal could act as the general acid required to catalyze the cleavage of the phosphodiester bond [170]. Of the highly conserved tyrosines, Tyr29 most likely serves as the general base to activate a water molecule for nucleophilic attack on the phosphodiester bond. This suggestion is consistent with the observation that the side chain hydroxyl group of Tyr29 is in close proximity to the divalent cation, and Y29A and Y29F mutants are completely inactive. Arg39 and Lys32 were suggested to be involved in stabilizing the negative charge of the free 5'-phosphate after DNA cleavage. Consistent with this idea, an Arg39 to alanine mutation inactivates the protein, while, in a previous study, an equivalent mutation of Arg42 to alanine in *E. coli* UvrC produced the same defect [23]. The Lys32 to alanine mutation reduced its activity by 25–30% compared to the wild type UvrC. It was speculated that Asn88 might play an important role in positioning the catalytic domain correctly with respect to the other domains of UvrC and mutation of Asn88 to alanine inactivated the protein. Finally, mutation of Phe73 to alanine or glutamate does not affect the incision activity of UvrC, suggesting that this residue is not directly involved in the catalytic reaction.

It is worth mentioning that magnesium appears to be coordinated with nucleases in a more transient manner compared to zinc and manganese [168]. Indeed, this is the case for another nuclease involved in DNA repair, namely Ape1 [168]. This relatively weak binding contributes to the fact that the number of bound magnesium ions in crystal structures can vary depending on different crystallization conditions. For RnaseHI, one magnesium or two manganese ions have been captured in different crystal structures [168]. In the case of UvrC, either soaking of UvrC^{N-Tma} in MnCl₂ or MgCl₂ gave rise to only one cation in both structures, supporting the one-metal mechanism for UvrC 3' endonuclease activity [170]. However, crystal structures of UvrC bound to DNA are needed to further elucidate the details of catalytic mechanism of UvrC.

7.3. UvrC homolog

It was surprising that the well annotated genome of *E. coli* did not reveal the existence of a second UvrC gene, until gene expression profiling experiments combined with careful homology searching revealed a C-homolog, Cho [47]. Cho is homologous to the N-terminal domain of UvrC and can elicit the 3' incision, but not 5' incision. Like UvrC, Cho is an UvrAB-dependent nuclease. Interestingly, Cho and UvrC interact with different domains of UvrB. Consequently, 3' incision activity mediated by Cho is four nucleotides further away from the damaged site compared to incision by UvrC [47]. Curiously, the expression of Cho is inducible, while UvrC is not [171]. Thus, it was suggested that Cho functions as a backup nuclease

for NER acting on very bulky substrates as well as protein-DNA crosslinks that block the 3' incision site of UvrC. Cho and UvrC coexist in only a small number of bacterial species including E. coli. Many more species only contain UvrC. Surprisingly, mycoplasmas and Borrelia burgdorferi only contain Cho, in which case the 5' incision activity might originate from these Cho's additional exonuclease domain or the exonuclease activity of another enzyme [172]. This speculation seems to be supported by the finding that Cho proteins of the Mycobacterium species are predicted to be larger than that of E. coli. The additional domain has strong homology to the epsilon 3' exonuclease, which is the proof-reading subunit of DNA polymerase III holoenzyme [172]. These molecular speculations need to be validated through direct experimentation.

8. DNA damage recognition and processing by UvrA, UvrB and UvrC

A working model for damage recognition is shown in Fig. 4. We have dissected the NER mechanism into several discrete steps: UvrA dimerization, UvrAB complex formation, initial damage detection by UvrA and DNA bending, DNA opening and Uvr isomerization, damage engagement, pre-incision complex formation and DNA wrapping. In reality the trajectory of damage detection and processing is a continuous function, such that the steps shown in this figure represent snapshots of critical features along the entire reaction pathway.

Six characteristics of damaged DNA that UvrABC could use for damage recognition include: (i) covalently linked damage, (ii) bulky substituents, (iii) localized unwinding, (iv) bending or kinking, (v) change in charge distribution at the damage site, and (vi) changes in the dynamics of DNA [8]. Pioneering work by Naegeli and coworkers has suggested that both prokaryotic and eukaryotic NER proteins employ "bipartite substrate discrimination" in which both the chemistry of DNA and the base pairing must be altered (reviewed in [173]). This idea has been reinforced by recent studies from several laboratories [43,174,175]. For example, different stereoisomers of BPDE are recognized with different efficiency by UvrABC [64,67]. Zou et al. [60] further showed that by placing the BPDE adduct N^2 -G in a six base unpaired region B. Van Houten et al. / Mutation Research 577 (2005) 92-117

1. UvrA dimerization	$A + A \longrightarrow A_2$
2. UvrAB complex formation	$A_2 + B A_2 B$
 Initial damage detection by UvrA and DNA bending 	$A_2B + DNA \longrightarrow [BA_2-DNA]$
4. DNA strand opening and isomerization	[BA ₂ -DNA] \longrightarrow [A ₂ B-DNA]
5. Damage engagement, preincision complex formation, DNA wrapping	[A₂B-DNA] → B-DNA + 2A

Fig. 4. DNA damage detection and processing by the bacterial nucleotide excision repair system. The figure depicts a more detailed glimpse of the initial steps of the reaction. The model proposes that UvrA dimerizes, followed by formation of the UvrAB complex. UvrA mediates the initial detection event then it prepares the DNA for UvrB that performs the damage verification step. The UvrB protein confirms that DNA damage is present by opening the DNA strands and inserting the β -hairpin; thus, the DNA lesion is now in closer proximity to UvrB. Therefore, we have depicted the isomerization reaction by changing the position of the protein in the complex relative to DNA: (B-A₂-DNA) verses (A₂-B-DNA). Finally, UvrB engages the DNA lesion, promotes DNA wrapping and signals UvrA to depart. A = UvrA, B = UvrB, C = UvrC.

this differential recognition could be eliminated. Interestingly the AAF-G adduct only required the opening of three base pairs to be maximally recognized which is consistent with earlier work by Gordienko and Rupp [58]. Gordienko and Rupp [58] had shown that the UvrAB interaction with AAF-dG adducts leads to an alteration in one to three base pairs including the adduct. Thus, base pair opening appears to be an important criterion for recognition and, as mentioned previously, supports the prediction that different sequence contexts, with different propensities for strand opening, affect recognition. This is precisely the case as Kow et al. [45] found that thymine glycol is recognized and incised in a sequence dependent manner. More recently, Zou et al. [60] found that BPDE, AF and AAF dG adducts in the sequence, TG*T, were incised more efficiently than in the sequence, CG*C. This difference appeared to be greater with AAF than with AF. Similar results were obtained with the BPDE adducts by Geacintov and coworkers (unpublished observation).

Bipartite recognition also seems to apply to the two damage recognition subunits of UvrA and UvrB, in which each subunit recognizes different aspects of the helix in order to develop high sensitivity and discrimination. UvrA appears to monitor the DNA helix for gross deformations, whereas UvrB seems to have adapted its helicase fold and β -hairpin to function as a 'close fitting sleeve' for damage recognition.

Early work by Snowden and Van Houten showed that while UvrA readily binds to abasic sites, subsequent loading of UvrB is greatly inhibited, and the action of UvrB actually leads to dissociation of both UvrA and UvrB. Thus, abasic sites are poorly incised (reviewed in [32]). As suggested in this 1993 review, we believed that UvrB might be making strong stacking interactions between aromatic amino acid side changes and the damaged base. As discussed above, crystallographic results of UvrB combined with site-direct mutagenesis has confirmed the notion that UvrB is making strong contacts with the DNA using aromatic side chains and UvrB provides the damage discrimination activity to the recognition reaction.

DNA bending and kinking are common in protein–DNA interactions. Using the FREEHELIX algorithm, Dickerson [176], and Dickerson and Chiu [177] have analyzed the DNA trajectory in 86 separate co-crystal structures of proteins bound to DNA. They found that protein–DNA complexes fell into three types of DNA bending: a sharp kink, a general writhe or a smooth curve. Analysis of sequence-specific deformability lead to them to hypothesize that "the radical bending observed in many protein/DNA complexes, and the observed dependence of bending on base sequence, suggests that differential deformability of the helix may itself be a significant component of the recognition process" [177]. UvrA interacts with damaged DNA about 10–1000fold more tightly than non-damaged DNA. Upon binding to DNA UvrA causes a site-specific bend and base pair opening is facilitated by UvrB binding [16,178]. UvrA can actually bind tightly to static bends such as those produced by the sequence 5'-AAAA-3' [8,46]. DNA bending and base pair opening are energetically linked thus one aids the other. Thus, both UvrA and UvrB appear to use bending of the DNA helix to help facilitate damage recognition. Furthermore, the ability to bend and open the DNA helix could allow access to the damaged site by the insertion of the β -hairpin into the DNA helix. The padlock model of damage recognition hypothesizes that the non-damaged strand is locked between the β -hairpin and the wall of UvrB's domain 1b [13,160]. The damage-containing strand is believed to cross in front of the β -hairpin and allow access by UvrC. Goosen and coworkers [152] have suggested that the aromatic side chains that are strictly conserved Tyr92, Tyr93, Tyr95 and Tyr96, at the base of the β -hairpin, allow efficient nucleotide flipping of the damaged nucleotide out of the helix [152]. We have shown that mutating Tyr96 to an alanine completely destroys UvrB's engagement of the adduct prompting us to the hypothesis that UvrB might make strong stacking interactions with the flipped out adduct or the remaining bases in the DNA helix [112]. This hypothesis is supported by the findings by Zou and Geacintov who



Fig. 5. Graphic representation of important amino acids within UvrB. Using the convention first developed for monomeric helicases by Wigley and coworkers [184], the bases along the damaged DNA strand are shown in green and the adducted base is shown as a red hexagon. The black bar across the DNA strand indicates that the point of interaction between F527 and the DNA is several bases downstream (more 3') to the incision site. We have depicted, in various colors, the UvrB amino acid side-chains that are thought to be important for DNA damage recognition and processing [17,68,152]. Panel A: UvrB has engaged the DNA adduct (red) using Tyr95 and Tyr96. These residues either stack into the double helix, displacing the damaged base or stabilize the displaced damaged base [152]. Panel B: UvrB's domain 3 motion, possibly linked to ATP binding, pushes Phe527 and/or another, yet to be identified residue into the double helix causing the damaged strand to be pushed up into UvrC's 3' nuclease center leading to incision. Arg123 and Glu99 are proposed to hold the DNA in place through attractive and repulsive forces, respectively. See text for additional details.



Fig. 6. Gene expression profiling of the bacterial nucleotide excision repair network. Panel A: protein–protein and protein–DNA interactions of the UvrABC system. Protein–protein interactions are shown in dashed blue lines; protein–DNA interactions are shown as orange arrows. Nodes are proteins, or in the case of LexA interaction promoter sequences in genes. Reaction pathway is shown as black arrow. NER interacting proteins: Acpp = Acyl carrier protein (ACP); B1120=hypothetical protein; BioB=biotin synthase (EC 2.8.1.6) Carb=carbamoyl-phosphate synthase large chain; YdjQ Cho = UvrC homolog, b1741; Feob = IRON(II) transport protein; Flgb = flagellar basal-body ROD protein (FLGB) (proximal ROD protein); Infa= translation initiation factor IF-1; Phet = phenylalanyl-tRNA synthetase beta chain; Rplo = 50S ribosomal protein L16; RpoB = DNA-directed RNA polymerase, beta subunit (RPOB); RpoC = DNA-directed RNA polymerase, beta subunit (RPOB); SecG = protein-export membrane protein; Spot = penta-phosphate guanosine-3'-pyrophosphohydrolase (Spot); Yehv = HspR; Ykgg = hypothetical protein HP0137. See text for references. Panel B: alterations in the NER network under UV-stress. Layered onto the network in panel A are gene expression changes that occur in *E. coli*, 20 min after 40 J/m² of UV light. Red, genes that are repressed; green, genes that are induced; yellow, genes that showed no change; white indicates no data. Green lines indicate possible remodeling of the NER system in response to UV damage (solid lines indicate new interactions predicted after UV light, dashed, pre-existing interactions). Note the induction of ydjQ CHO, the UvrC homolog, polB and the repression of polA, UvrC and Mfd.

placed an abasic site across a dG-BPDE adduct [67]. Rather than an increase in recognition and subsequent incision they found the opposite: an abasic site across from a (+)-*cis*- BPDE-N2-dG lesion decreased incision efficiency by a factor of five. These data suggest that the base opposite the adduct is important for stabilizing the UvrB–DNA complex probably through the aromatic tyrosine sides chains near the base of the β -hairpin.

Within UvrB, two charged residues in the vicinity of the β -hairpin are also essential for binding of damaged DNA Glu99 and Arg123. Arg123 is believed to provide ionic interactions with the phosphates of the non-damaged strand since it is located below the β -hairpin. The negative charge of Glu99 may be important to guide the negatively charged phosphate backbone to the base of the β -hairpin [112].

Site-directed mutagenesis of two other conserved aromatic side chains, Phe249 and Phe527, located in domains 1a and 3 of UvrB has provided insight into how UvrB might use it's helicase fold to process DNA damage. Mutating Phe527 to alanine, while not disrupting the formation of the UvrB-DNA complex, decreased incision activity to about 50% of wild-type UvrB [112]. These data combined with homology modeling and alignment of the helicase motifs in PcrA with UvrB suggest that Phe527 in UvrB intercalates into the helix and moves towards the β -hairpin as a consequence of ATP binding between domains 1a and 3. We believe this large domain motion is used to further distort the DNA helix forcing the correct nucleotides into the UvrC 3' cleavage site, thus allowing catalysis by Arg42 (see Fig. 5). Surprisingly mutating Phe249 into alanine facilitates the transition from the UvrAB-DNA complex to the incision competent UvrB-DNA complex suggesting that this residue might impose some steric clash with the DNA bases [17].

9. So what remains hidden higher up the sleeve: what is the nature of repair in vivo?

While much has been learned about the reaction mechanism of the UvrABC system using purified proteins in biochemical assays, it is essential that nucleotide excision repair be placed in the biological context of the entire cell. In vivo, the UvrABC system does not work in isolation but is part of a complex network that responds to stressful conditions. Using UvrA fused to the green-fluorescence protein, Walker and coworkers [179] were able to visualize the location of UvrA in living cells of *Bacillus subtilis*. They discovered that UvrA underwent a dramatic re-localization after DNA damage whereas during normal growth, it was uniformly localized to chromatin. This redistribution was reversible. Grossman and coworkers [180] had previously found that following UV-irradiation, UvrA and UvrC join an ensemble of 15 other proteins, including three subunits of RNA polymerase, topoisomerase I, and DNA gyrase, to relocate near the inner membrane of *E. coli* at DNA-membrane junctions.

Using high density DNA microarrays, Hanawalt and coworkers [181] performed a global genome analysis of genes induced by UV light in *E. coli*. They found a number of new genes that were induced with putative LexA binding sites, and many more, which did not apparently have LexA SOS boxes. They also observed a number of repressed genes. Using these data, and interaction maps in bacteria [182], we have assembled a bacterial nucleotide excision repair interactome, Fig. 6. The network undergoes significant changes following UV irradiation and suggests that bacteria employ alternative repair proteins, and may follow a significantly different reaction pathway in response to DNA damage (Fig. 6B). These and other regulatory mechanism are yet to be explored in the bacterial NER system.

Acknowledgements

We want to thank Drs. Rachelle Bienstock and Leroy Worth for critical comments and review of the manuscript. We would like to thank Paul Cacioppo (Image Associates) for assistance with the graphics.

References

- P.C. Hanawalt, R.H. Haynes, Repair replication of DNA in bacteria: irrelevance of chemical nature of base defect, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 19 (1965) 462–467.
- [2] P.C. Hanawalt, P.K. Cooper, A.K. Ganesan, C.A. Smith, DNA repair in bacteria and mammalian cells, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 48 (1979) 783–836.
- [3] R.B. Setlow, W.L. Carrier, The disappearance of thymine dimers from DNA: an error-correcting mechanism, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 51 (1964) 226–231.
- [4] R.P. Boyce, P. Howard-Flanders, Release of ultraviolet lightinduced thymine dimers from DNA in *E. coli* K-12, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 51 (1964) 293–300.

- [5] D. Pettijohn, P. Hanawalt, Evidence for repair-replication of ultraviolet damaged DNA in bacteria, J. Mol. Biol. 93 (1964) 395–410.
- [6] P. Howard-Flanders, R.P. Boyce, L. Theriot, Three loci in *Escherichia coli* K-12 that control the excision of pyrimidine dimers and certain other mutagen products from DNA, Genetics 53 (1966) 1119–1136.
- [7] C. Janion, Some aspects of the SOS response system-a critical survey, Acta Biochim. Pol. 48 (2001) 599–610.
- [8] B. Van Houten, Nucleotide excision repair in *Escherichia coli*, Microbiol. Rev. 54 (1990) 18–51.
- [9] E. Seeberg, A.L. Steinum, Purification and properties of the uvrA protein from *Escherichia coli*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79 (1982) 988–992.
- [10] S. Mazur, L. Grossman, Dimerization of *Echerichia colli* UvrA and its binding to undamaged and ultraviolet light damaged DNA, Biochemistry 30 (1991) 4432–4443.
- [11] M. Machius, L. Henry, M. Palnitkar, J. Deisenhofer, Crystal structure of the DNA nucleotide excision repair enzyme UvrB from *Thermus thermophilus*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96 (1999) 11717–11722.
- [12] N. Nakagawa, M. Sugahara, R. Masui, R. Kato, K. Fukuyama, S. Kuramitsu, Crystal structure of *Thermus thermophilus* HB8 UvrB protein, a key enzyme of nucleotide excision repair, J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 126 (1999) 986–990.
- [13] K. Theis, P.J. Chen, M. Skorvaga, B. Van Houten, C. Kisker, Crystal structure of UvrB, a DNA helicase adapted for nucleotide excision repair, EMBO J. 18 (1999) 6899– 6907.
- [14] E.E. Verhoeven, C. Wyman, G.F. Moolenaar, N. Goosen, The presence of two UvrB subunits in the UvrAB complex ensures damage detection in both DNA strands, EMBO J. 21 (2002) 4196–4205.
- [15] E.E. Verhoeven, C. Wyman, G.F. Moolenaar, J.H. Hoeijmakers, N. Goosen, Architecture of nucleotide excision repair complexes: DNA is wrapped by UvrB before and after damage recognition, EMBO J. 20 (2001) 601–611.
- [16] Q. Shi, R. Thresher, A. Sancar, J. Griffith, Electron microscopic study of (A)BC excinuclease. DNA is sharply bent in the UvrB–DNA complex, J. Mol. Biol. 226 (1992) 425–432.
- [17] M.J. DellaVecchia, D.L. Croteau, M. Skorvaga, S.V. Dezhurov, O.I. Lavrik, B. Van Houten, Analyzing the handoff of DNA from UvrA to UvrB utilizing DNA-protein photoaffinity labeling, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 45245–45256.
- [18] D.K. Orren, A. Sancar, Formation and enzymatic properties of the UvrB. DNA complex, J. Biol. Chem. 265 (1990) 15796–15803.
- [19] G.F. Moolenaar, M.F. Herron, V. Monaco, G.A. van der Marel, J.H. van Boom, R. Visse, N. Goosen, The role of ATP binding and hydrolysis by UvrB during nucleotide excision repair, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 8044–8050.
- [20] A. Sancar, W.D. Rupp, A novel repair enzyme: UVRABC excision nuclease of *Escherichia coli* cuts a DNA strand on both sides of the damaged region, Cell 33 (1983) 249– 260.
- [21] J.J. Lin, A. Sancar, Active site of (A)BC excinuclease. I. Evidence for 5' incision by UvrC through a catalytic site involv-

ing Asp399, Asp438, Asp466, and His538 residues, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 17688–17692.

- [22] J.J. Lin, A.M. Phillips, J.E. Hearst, A. Sancar, Active site of (A)BC excinuclease. II. Binding, bending, and catalysis mutants of UvrB reveal a direct role in 3' and an indirect role in 5' incision, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 17693– 17700.
- [23] E.E. Verhoeven, M. van Kesteren, G.F. Moolenaar, R. Visse, N. Goosen, Catalytic sites for 3' and 5' incision of *Escherichia coli* nucleotide excision repair are both located in UvrC, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 5120–5123.
- [24] P.R. Caron, S.R. Kushner, L. Grossman, Involvement of helicase II (uvrD gene product) and DNA polymerase I in excision mediated by the uvrABC protein complex, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82 (1985) 4925–4929.
- [25] I. Husain, B. Van Houten, D.C. Thomas, M. Abdel-Monem, A. Sancar, Effect of DNA polymerase I and DNA helicase II on the turnover rate of UvrABC excision nuclease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82 (1985) 6774–6778.
- [26] A.S. Bhagwat, R.J. Roberts, Genetic analysis of the 5azacytidine sensitivity of *Escherichia coli* K-12, J. Bacteriol. 169 (1987) 1537–1546.
- [27] M. Ikenaga, H. Ichikawa-Ryo, S. Kondo, The major cause of inactivation and mutation by 4-nitroquinoline 1-oixde in *Escherichia coli*: excisable 4NQO-purine adducts, J. Mol. Biol. 92 (1975) 341–356.
- [28] D.C. Thomas, A.G. Morton, V.A. Bohr, A. Sancar, General method for quantifying base adducts in specific mammalian genes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85 (1988) 3723–3727.
- [29] D.C. Thomas, I. Husain, S.G. Chaney, G.B. Panigrahi, I.G. Walker, Sequence effect on incision by (A)BC excinuclease of 4NQO adducts and UV photoproducts, Nucleic Acids Res. 19 (1991) 365–370.
- [30] J.J. Lin, A. Sancar, A new mechanism for repairing oxidative damage to DNA: (A)BC excinuclease removes AP sites and thymine glycols from DNA, Biochemistry 28 (1989) 7979–7984.
- [31] A. Snowden, Y.W. Kow, B. Van, Houten, Damage repertoire of the *Escherichia coli* UvrABC nuclease complex includes abasic sites, base-damage analogues, and lesions containing adjacent 5' or 3' nicks, Biochemistry 29 (1990) 7251–7259.
- [32] B. Van Houten, A. Snowden, Mechanism of action of the *Escherichia coli* UvrABC nuclease: clues to the damage recognition problem, Bioessays 15 (1993) 51–59.
- [33] R. Bockrath, Y.W. Kow, S.S. Wallace, Chemically altered apurinic sites in phi X174 DNA give increased mutagenesis in SOS-induced *E. coli*, Mutat. Res. 288 (1993) 207–214.
- [34] C.A. Oleykowski, J.A. Mayernik, S.E. Lim, J.D. Groopman, L. Grossman, G.N. Wogan, A.T. Yeung, Repair of aflatoxin B1 DNA adducts by the UvrABC endonuclease of *Escherichia coli*, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 7990–8002.
- [35] J.M. Allan, M.N. Routledge, R.C. Garner, The *Escherichia coli* DNA repair protein UvrA can re-associate with the UvrB: aflatoxin B1–DNA complex in vitro, Mutat. Res. 362 (1996) 261–268.
- [36] M.N. Routledge, J.M. Allan, R.C. Garner, Detection of DNA damage by *Escherichia coli* UvrB-binding competition assay

is limited by the stability of the UvrB–DNA complex, Carcinogenesis 18 (1997) 1407–1413.

- [37] J.X. Chen, Y. Zheng, M. West, M.S. Tang, Carcinogens preferentially bind at methylated CpG in the p53 mutational hot spots, Cancer Res. 58 (1998) 2070–2075.
- [38] Y.O. Alekseyev, M.L. Hamm, J.M. Essigmann, Aflatoxin B1 formamidopyrimidine adducts are preferentially repaired by the nucleotide excision repair pathway in vivo, Carcinogenesis 25 (2004) 1045–1051.
- [39] B.X. Chen, K. Kubo, H. Ide, B.F. Erlanger, S.S. Wallace, Y.W. Kow, Properties of a monoclonal antibody for the detection of abasic sites, a common DNA lesion, Mutat. Res. 273 (1992) 253–261.
- [40] A.A. Purmal, L.E. Rabow, G.W. Lampman, R.P. Cunningham, Y.W. Kow, A common mechanism of action for the N-glycosylase activity of DNA N-glycosylase/AP lyases from *E. coli* and T4, Mutat. Res. 364 (1996) 193– 207.
- [41] T.R. Krugh, D.E. Graves, M.P. Stone, Two-dimensional NMR studies on the anthramycin-d(ATGCAT)2 adduct, Biochemistry 28 (1989) 9988–9994.
- [42] M. Nazimiec, L. Grossman, M.S. Tang, A comparison of the rates of reaction and function of UVRB in UVRABC- and UVRAB-mediated anthramycin-N2-guanine-DNA repair, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 24716–24724.
- [43] D. Gunz, M.T. Hess, H. Naegeli, Recognition of DNA adducts by human nucleotide excision repair. Evidence for a thermodynamic probing mechanism, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 25089–25098.
- [44] I. Gomez-Pinto, E. Cubero, S.G. Kalko, V. Monaco, G. van der Marel, J.H. van Boom, M. Orozco, C. Gonzalez, Effect of bulky lesions on DNA: solution structure of a DNA duplex containing a cholesterol adduct, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 24552–24560.
- [45] Y.W. Kow, S.S. Wallace, B. Van Houten, UvrABC nuclease complex repairs thymine glycol, an oxidative DNA base damage, Mutat. Res. 235 (1990) 147–156.
- [46] R.S. Lloyd, B. Van Houten, DNA damage recognition, in: J.-M. Vos (Ed.), DNA Repair Mechanisms: Impact on Human Diseases and Cancer, R.G. Landes Company, Biomedical Publishers, Austin, Texas, 1995, pp. 25–66.
- [47] G.F. Moolenaar, S. van Rossum-Fikkert, M. van Kesteren, N. Goosen Cho, a second endonuclease involved in *Escherichia coli* nucleotide excision repair, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 1467–1472.
- [48] P.D. Lawley, Carcinogenesis by alkylating agents, in: C.E. Searle (Ed.), Chemical Carcinogens, vol. 1, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 1984.
- [49] R.W. Chambers, E. Sledziewska-Gojska, S. Hirani-Hojatti, H. Borowy-Borowski, uvrA and recA mutations inhibit a sitespecific transition produced by a single O6-methylguanine in gene G of bacteriophage phi X174, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82 (1985) 7173–7177.
- [50] L. Samson, J. Thomale, M.F. Rajewsky, Alternative pathways for the in vivo repair of O6-alkylguanine and O4-alkylthymine in *Escherichia coli*: the adaptive response and nucleotide excision repair, EMBO J. 7 (1988) 2261–2267.

- [51] R.W. Chambers, E. Sledziewska-Gojska, S. Hirani-Hojatti, In vivo effect of DNA repair on the transition frequency produced from a single O6-methyl- or O6-*n*-butyl-guanine in a T:G base pair, Mol. Gen. Genet. 213 (1988) 325–331.
- [52] J.M. Voigt, B. Van Houten, A. Sancar, M.D. Topal, Repair of O6-methylguanine by ABC excinuclease of *Escherichia coli* in vitro, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 5172–5176.
- [53] M. Tang, M.W. Lieberman, C.M. King, uvr Genes function differently in repair of acetylaminofluorene and aminofluorene DNA adducts, Nature 299 (1982) 646–648.
- [54] R.P. Fuchs, E. Seeberg, pBR322 plasmid DNA modified with 2-acetylaminofluorene derivatives: transforming activity and in vitro strand cleavage by the *Escherichia coli* uvrABC endonuclease, EMBO J. 3 (1984) 757–760.
- [55] A. Sancar, K.A. Franklin, G. Sancar, M.S. Tang, Repair of psoralen and acetylaminofluorene DNA adducts by ABC excinuclease, J. Mol. Biol. 184 (1985) 725–734.
- [56] M. Bichara, R.P. Fuchs, uvrC gene function has no specific role in repair of N-2-aminofluorene adducts, J. Bacteriol. 169 (1987) 423–426.
- [57] J.R. Pierce, R. Case, M.S. Tang, Recognition and repair of 2-aminofluorene- and 2-(acetylamino)fluorene-DNA adducts by UVRABC nuclease, Biochemistry 28 (1989) 5821–5826.
- [58] I. Gordienko, W.D. Rupp, The limited strand-separating activity of the UvrAB protein complex and its role in the recognition of DNA damage, EMBO J. 16 (1997) 889–895.
- [59] I. Gordienko, W.D. Rupp, A specific 3' exonuclease activity of UvrABC, EMBO J. 17 (1998) 626–633.
- [60] Y. Zou, S.M. Shell, C.D. Utzat, C. Luo, Z. Yang, N.E. Geacintov, A.K. Basu, Effects of DNA adduct structure and sequence context on strand opening of repair intermediates and incision by UvrABC nuclease, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 12654–12661.
- [61] E. Seeberg, A.L. Steinum, M. Nordenskjold, S. Soderhall, B. Jernstrom, Strand-break formation in DNA modified by benzo[alpha]pyrene diolepoxide. Quantitative cleavage by *Escherichia coli* uvrABC endonuclease, Mutat. Res. 112 (1983) 139–145.
- [62] H.V. Vadi, Differences in transformation of repair-deficient mutants of *E. coli* with BPDE- or chlorozotocin-modified plasmid DNA, Carcinogenesis 4 (1983) 1379–1384.
- [63] B. Van Houten, W.E. Masker, W.L. Carrier, J.D. Regan, Quantitation of carcinogen-induced DNA damage and repair in human cells with the UVR ABC excision nuclease from *Escherichia coli*, Carcinogenesis 7 (1986) 83–87.
- [64] Y. Zou, T.M. Liu, N.E. Geacintov, B. Van Houten, Interaction of the UvrABC nuclease system with a DNA duplex containing a single stereoisomer of dG-(+)- or dG-(-)-anti-BPDE, Biochemistry 34 (1995) 13582–13593.
- [65] Y. Zou, B. Van Houten, Strand opening by the UvrA(2)B complex allows dynamic recognition of DNA damage, EMBO J. 18 (1999) 4889–4901.
- [66] S. Hoare, Y. Zou, V. Purohit, R. Krishnasamy, M. Skorvaga, B. Van Houten, N.E. Geacintov, A.K. Basu, Differential incision of bulky carcinogen-DNA adducts by the UvrABC nuclease: comparison of incision rates and the interactions of Uvr subunits with lesions of different structures, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 12252–12261.

- [67] Y. Zou, C. Luo, N.E. Geacintov, Hierarchy of DNA damage recognition in *Escherichia coli* nucleotide excision repair, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 2923–2931.
- [68] Y. Zou, H. Ma, I.G. Minko, S.M. Shell, Z. Yang, Y. Qu, Y. Xu, N.E. Geacintov, R.S. Lloyd, DNA damage recognition of mutated forms of UvrB proteins in nucleotide excision repair, Biochemistry 43 (2004) 4196–4205.
- [69] R. Ziegel, A. Shallop, P. Upadhyaya, R. Jones, N. Tretyakova, Endogenous 5-methylcytosine protects neighboring guanines from N7 and O6-methylation and O6-pyridyloxobutylation by the tobacco carcinogen 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone, Biochemistry 43 (2004) 540–549.
- [70] A.T. Yeung, B.K. Jones, M. Capraro, T. Chu, The repair of psoralen monoadducts by the *Escherichia coli* UvrABC endonuclease, Nucleic Acids Res. 15 (1987) 4957– 4971.
- [71] B. Van Houten, H. Gamper, A. Sancar, J.E. Hearst, DNase I footprint of ABC excinuclease, J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 13180–13187.
- [72] M.M. Munn, W.D. Rupp, Interaction of the UvrABC endonuclease with DNA containing a psoralen monoadduct or crosslink. Differential effects of superhelical density and comparison of preincision complexes, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 24748–24756.
- [73] J.C. Huang, D.S. Hsu, A. Kazantsev, A. Sancar, Substrate spectrum of human excinuclease: repair of abasic sites, methylated bases, mismatches, and bulky adducts, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91 (1994) 12213–12217.
- [74] M. Ramaswamy, A.T. Yeung, Sequence-specific interactions of UvrABC endonuclease with psoralen interstrand crosslinks, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 485–492.
- [75] C.P. Selby, A. Sancar, ABC excinuclease incises both 5' and 3' to the CC-1065-DNA adduct and its incision activity is stimulated by DNA helicase II and DNA polymerase I, Biochemistry 27 (1988) 7184–7188.
- [76] M.S. Tang, C.S. Lee, R. Doisy, L. Ross, D.R. Needham-VanDevanter, L.H. Hurley, Recognition and repair of the CC-1065-(N3-adenine)-DNA adduct by the UVRABC nucleases, Biochemistry 27 (1988) 893–901.
- [77] M. Nazimiec, C.S. Lee, Y.L. Tang, X. Ye, R. Case, M. Tang, Sequence-dependent interactions of two forms of UvrC with DNA helix-stabilizing CC-1065-N3-adenine adducts, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 11073–11081.
- [78] D.J. Beck, S. Popoff, A. Sancar, W.D. Rupp, Reactions of the UVRABC excision nuclease with DNA damaged by diamminedichloroplatinum(II), Nucleic Acids Res. 13 (1985) 7395–7412.
- [79] I. Husain, S.G. Chaney, A. Sancar, Repair of *cis*-platinum-DNA adducts by ABC excinuclease in vivo and in vitro, J. Bacteriol. 163 (1985) 817–823.
- [80] S.C. Popoff, D.J. Beck, W.D. Rupp, Repair of plasmid DNA damaged in vitro with *cis-* or *trans*diamminedichloroplatinum(II) in *Escherichia coli*, Mutat. Res. 183 (1987) 129–137.
- [81] R. Visse, A. King, G.F. Moolenaar, N. Goosen, P. van de Putte, Protein–DNA interactions and alterations in the DNA structure upon UvrB–DNA preincision complex formation during

nucleotide excision repair in *Escherichia coli*, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 9881–9888.

- [82] J.A. Brandsma, M. de Ruijter, R. Visse, D. van Meerten, M. van der Kaaden, J.G. Moggs, P. van de Putte, The in vitro more efficiently repaired cisplatin adduct cis-Pt.GG is in vivo a more mutagenic lesion than the relative slowly repaired *cis*-Pt.GCG adduct, Mutat Res 362 (1996) 29–40.
- [83] E.E. Verhoeven, M. van Kesteren, J.J. Turner, G.A. van der Marel, J.H. van Boom, G.F. Moolenaar, N. Goosen, The Cterminal region of *Escherichia coli* UvrC contributes to the flexibility of the UvrABC nucleotide excision repair system, Nucleic Acids Res. 30 (2002) 2492–2500.
- [84] S.G. Chaney, S.L. Campbell, B. Temple, E. Bassett, Y. Wu, M. Faldu, Protein interactions with platinum-DNA adducts: from structure to function, J. Inorg. Biochem. 98 (2004) 1551– 1559.
- [85] D.C. Thomas, T.A. Kunkel, N.J. Casna, J.P. Ford, A. Sancar, Activities and incision patterns of ABC excinuclease on modified DNA containing single-base mismatches and extrahelical bases, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 14496–14505.
- [86] D. Lal, S. Som, S. Friedman, Survival and mutagenic effects of 5-azacytidine in *Escherichia coli*, Mutat. Res. 193 (1988) 229–236.
- [87] I.G. Minko, Y. Zou, R.S. Lloyd, Incision of DNA-protein crosslinks by UvrABC nuclease suggests a potential repair pathway involving nucleotide excision repair, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 1905–1909.
- [88] I.G. Minko, A.J. Kurtz, D.L. Croteau, B. Van Houten, T.M. Harris, R.S. Lloyd, Initiation of repair of DNA-polypeptide cross-links by the UvrABC nuclease, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 3000–3009.
- [89] R.J. Fram, J. Sullivan, M.G. Marinus, Mutagenesis and repair of DNA damage caused by nitrogen mustard, *N*,*N*[']-bis(2chloroethyl)-*N*-nitrosourea (BCNU), streptozotocin, and mitomycin C in *E. coli*, Mutat. Res. 166 (1986) 299–242.
- [90] W.T. Pu, R. Kahn, M.M. Munn, W.D. Rupp, UvrABC incision of *N*-methylmitomycin A-DNA monoadducts and cross-links, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 20697–20704.
- [91] V.S. Li, M. Reed, Y. Zheng, H. Kohn, M. Tang, C5 cytosine methylation at CpG sites enhances sequence selectivity of mitomycin C-DNA bonding, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 2612– 2618.
- [92] V.S. Li, M.S. Tang, H. Kohn, The effect of C(5) cytosine methylation at CpG sequences on mitomycin-DNA bonding profiles, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 9 (2001) 863–873.
- [93] C. Lage, M. de Padula, T.A. de Alencar, S.R. da Fonseca Goncalves, L. da Silva Vidal, J. Cabral-Neto, A.C. Leitao, New insights on how nucleotide excision repair could remove DNA adducts induced by chemotherapeutic agents and psoralens plus UV-A (PUVA) in *Escherichia coli* cells, Mutat. Res. 544 (2003) 143–157.
- [94] B.M. Kacinski, W.D. Rupp, D.B. Ludlum, Repair of haloethylnitrosourea-induced DNA damage in mutant and adapted bacteria, Cancer Res. 45 (1985) 6471–6474.
- [95] V.A. Bohr, Gene specific damage and repair after treatment of cells with UV and chemotherapeutical agents, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 283 (1991) 225–233.

- [96] B. Van Houten, A. Sancar, Repair of *N*-methyl-*N*'-nitro-*N*nitrosoguanidine-induced DNA damage by ABC excinuclease, J. Bacteriol. 169 (1987) 540–545.
- [97] B. Van Houten, H. Gamper, S.R. Holbrook, J.E. Hearst, A. Sancar, Action mechanism of ABC excision nuclease on a DNA substrate containing a psoralen crosslink at a defined position, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83 (1986) 8077– 8081.
- [98] B. Van Houten, H. Gamper, J.E. Hearst, A. Sancar, Construction of DNA substrates modified with psoralen at a unique site and study of the action mechanism of ABC excinuclease on these uniformly modified substrates, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 14135–14141.
- [99] S. Cheng, B. Van Houten, H.B. Gamper, A. Sancar, J.E. Hearst, Use of psoralen-modified oligonucleotides to trap three-stranded RecA–DNA complexes and repair of these cross-linked complexes by ABC excinuclease, J. Biol. Chem. 263 (1988) 15110–15117.
- [100] B.K. Jones, A.T. Yeung, Repair of 4,5',8-trimethylpsoralen monoadducts and cross-links by the *Escherichia coli* UvrABC endonuclease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85 (1988) 8410–8414.
- [101] G. Duval-Valentin, M. Takasugi, C. Helene, E. Sage, Triple helix-directed psoralen crosslinks are recognized by Uvr(A)BC excinuclease, J. Mol. Biol. 278 (1998) 815–825.
- [102] F.X. Barre, U. Asseline, A. Harel-Bellan, Asymmetric recognition of psoralen interstrand crosslinks by the nucleotide excision repair and the error-prone repair pathways, J. Mol. Biol. 286 (1999) 1379–1387.
- [103] E. Seeberg, Multiprotein interactions in strand cleavage of DNA damaged by UV and chemicals, Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol. 26 (1981) 217–226.
- [104] A.T. Yeung, W.B. Mattes, E.Y. Oh, L. Grossman, Enzymatic properties of purified *Escherichia coli* uvrABC proteins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80 (1983) 6157–6161.
- [105] W.A. Franklin, W.A. Haseltine, Removal of UV light-induced pyrimidine-pyrimidone(6-4) products from *Escherichia coli* DNA requires the uvrA, uvrB, and urvC gene products, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81 (1984) 3821–3824.
- [106] G.M. Myles, B. Van Houten, A. Sancar, Utilization of DNA photolyase, pyrimidine dimer endonucleases, and alkali hydrolysis in the analysis of aberrant ABC excinuclease incisions adjacent to UV-induced DNA photoproducts, Nucleic Acids Res. 15 (1987) 1227–1243.
- [107] P. Parniewski, A. Bacolla, A. Jaworski, R.D. Wells, Nucleotide excision repair affects the stability of long transcribed (CTG*CAG) tracts in an orientation-dependent manner in *Escherichia coli*, Nucleic Acids Res. 27 (1999) 616–623.
- [108] G.F. Moolenaar, M. Bazuine, I.C. van Knippenberg, R. Visse, N. Goosen, Characterization of the *Escherichia coli* damageindependent UvrBC endonuclease activity, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 34896–34903.
- [109] G.F. Moolenaar, V. Monaco, G.A. van der Marel, J.H. van Boom, R. Visse, N. Goosen, The effect of the DNA flanking the lesion on formation of the UvrB–DNA preincision complex. Mechanism for the UvrA-mediated loading of UvrB onto a DNA damaged site, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 8038–8043.

- [110] M. Skorvaga, K. Theis, B.S. Mandavilli, C. Kisker, B. Van Houten, The beta-hairpin motif of UvrB is essential for DNA binding, damage processing, and UvrC-mediated incisions, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 1553–1559.
- [111] R.J. Bienstock, M. Skorvaga, B.S. Mandavilli, B. Van Houten, Structural and functional characterization of the human DNA repair helicase XPD by comparative molecular modeling and site-directed mutagenesis of the bacterial repair protein UvrB, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 5309–5316.
- [112] M. Skorvaga, M.J. DellaVecchia, D.L. Croteau, K. Theis, J.J. Truglio, B.S. Mandavilli, C. Kisker, B. Van Houten, Identification of residues within UvrB that are important for efficient DNA binding and damage processing, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 51574–51580.
- [113] M.E. Branum, J.T. Reardon, A. Sancar, DNA repair excision nuclease attacks undamaged DNA. A potential source of spontaneous mutations, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 25421–25426.
- [114] E. Delagoutte, R.P. Fuchs, E. Bertrand-Burggraf, The isomerization of the UvrB–DNA preincision complex couples the UvrB and UvrC activities, J. Mol. Biol. 320 (2002) 73–84.
- [115] C.P. Selby, A. Sancar, Noncovalent drug–DNA binding interactions that inhibit and stimulate (A)BC excinuclease, Biochemistry 30 (1991) 3841–3849.
- [116] C.P. Selby, A. Sancar, Mechanisms of caffeine inhibition of DNA repair in *E. coli*, Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 340A (1990) 179–193.
- [117] C.P. Selby, A. Sancar, Molecular mechanisms of DNA repair inhibition by caffeine, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87 (1990) 3522–3525.
- [118] B. Lambert, B.K. Jones, B.P. Roques, J.B. Le Pecq, A.T. Yeung, The noncovalent complex between DNA and the bifunctional intercalator ditercalinium is a substrate for the UvrABC endonuclease of *Escherichia coli*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86 (1989) 6557–6561.
- [119] B. Lambert, E. Segal-Bendirdjian, C. Esnault, J.B. Le Pecq, B.P. Roques, B. Jones, A.T. Yeung, Recognition by the DNA repair system of DNA structural alterations induced by reversible drug–DNA interactions, Anticancer Drug Des. 5 (1990) 43–53.
- [120] B.M. Kacinski, W.D. Rupp, E. coli uvrB protein binds to DNA in the presence of uvrA protein, Nature 294 (1981) 480–481.
- [121] R.D. Anderson, M.L. Veigl, J. Baxter, W.D. Sedwick, Excision repair reduces doxorubicin-induced genotoxicity, Mutat. Res. 294 (1993) 215–222.
- [122] D. Chandrasekhar, B. Van Houten, In vivo formation and repair of cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers and 6–4 photoproducts measured at the gene and nucleotide level in *Escherichia coli*, Mutat. Res. 450 (2000) 19–40.
- [123] Q. Ruan, P. Zhuang, S. Li, R. Perlow, A.R. Srinivasan, X.J. Lu, S. Broyde, W.K. Olson, N.E. Geacintov, Base sequence effects in bending induced by bulky carcinogen-DNA adducts: experimental and computational analysis, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 10458–10472.
- [124] N.E. Geacintov, S. Broyde, T. Buterin, H. Naegeli, M. Wu, S. Yan, D.J. Patel, Thermodynamic and structural factors in the removal of bulky DNA adducts by the nucleotide excision repair machinery, Biopolymers 65 (2002) 202–210.

- [125] I. Husain, B. Van Houten, D.C. Thomas, A. Sancar, Sequences of *Escherichia coli* uvrA gene and protein reveal two potential ATP binding sites, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 4895– 4901.
- [126] R.F. Doolittle, M.S. Johnson, I. Husain, B. Van Houten, D.C. Thomas, A. Sancar, Domainal evolution of a prokaryotic DNA repair protein and its relationship to active-transport proteins, Nature 323 (1986) 451–453.
- [127] S. Navaratnam, G.M. Myles, R.W. Strange, A. Sancar, Evidence from extended X-ray absorption fine structure and sitespecific mutagenesis for zinc fingers in UvrA protein of *Escherichia coli*, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 16067–16071.
- [128] R. Visse, M. de Ruijter, M. Ubbink, J.A. Brandsma, P. van de Putte, The first zinc-binding domain of UvrA is not essential for UvrABC-mediated DNA excision repair, Mutat. Res. 294 (1993) 263–274.
- [129] J. Wang, K.L. Mueller, L. Grossman, A mutational study of the C-terminal zinc-finger motif of the *Escherichia coli* UvrA protein, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 10771–10775.
- [130] K.P. Hopfner, A. Karcher, D.S. Shin, L. Craig, L.M. Arthur, J.P. Carney, J.A. Tainer, Structural biology of Rad50 AT-Pase: ATP-driven conformational control in DNA doublestrand break repair and the ABC-ATPase superfamily, Cell 101 (2000) 789–800.
- [131] M.H. Lamers, A. Perrakis, J.H. Enzlin, H.H. Winterwerp, N. de Wind, T.K. Sixma, The crystal structure of DNA mismatch repair protein MutS binding to a G × T mismatch, Nature 407 (2000) 711–717.
- [132] G. Obmolova, C. Ban, P. Hsieh, W. Yang, Crystal structures of mismatch repair protein MutS and its complex with a substrate DNA, Nature 407 (2000) 703–710.
- [133] J. Lowe, S.C. Cordell, F. van den Ent, Crystal structure of the SMC head domain: an ABC ATPase with 900 residues antiparallel coiled-coil inserted, J. Mol. Biol. 306 (2001) 25–35.
- [134] A. Lammens, A. Schele, K.P. Hopfner, Structural biochemistry of ATP-driven dimerization and DNA-stimulated activation of SMC ATPases, Curr. Biol. 14 (2004) 1778–1782.
- [135] K.P. Hopfner, J.A. Tainer, RAD50/SMC proteains and ABC trasporters: unifying concepts from high-resolution structures, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 13 (2003) 249–255.
- [136] G.M. Myles, J.E. Hearst, A. Sancar, Site-specific mutagenesis of conserved residues within Walker A and B sequences of *Escherichia coli* UvrA protein, Biochemistry 30 (1991) 3824–3834.
- [137] G.M. Myles, A. Sancar, Isolation and characterization of functional domains of UvrA, Biochemistry 30 (1991) 3834–3840.
- [138] R. Gaudet, D.C. Wiley, Structure of the ABC ATPase domain of human TAP1, the transporter associated with antigen processing, EMBO J. 20 (2001) 4964–4972.
- [139] N. Karpowich, O. Martsinkevich, L. Millen, Y.R. Yuan, P.L. Dai, K. MacVey, P.J. Thomas, J.F. Hunt, Crystal structures of the MJ1267 ATP binding cassette reveal an induced-fit effect at the ATPase active site of an ABC transporter, Structure (Camb.) 9 (2001) 571–586.
- [140] L. Schmitt, H. Benabdelhak, M.A. Blight, I.B. Holland, M.T. Stubbs, Crystal structure of the nucleotide-binding domain of the ABC-transporter haemolysin B: identification of a variable

region within ABC helical domains, J. Mol. Biol. 330 (2003) 333–342.

- [141] D.K. Orren, A. Sancar, The (A)BC excinuclease of *Escherichia coli* has only the UvrB and UvrC subunits in the incision complex, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86 (1989) 5237–5241.
- [142] E.Y. Oh, L. Claassen, S. Thiagalingam, S. Mazur, L. Grossman, ATPase activity of the UvrA and UvrAB protein complexes of the *Escherichia coli* UvrABC endonuclease, Nucleic Acids Res. 17 (1989) 4145–4159.
- [143] P.R. Caron, L. Grossman, Involvement of a cryptic ATPase activity of UvrB and its proteolysis product, UvrB* in DNA repair, Nucleic Acids Res. 16 (1988) 10891–10902.
- [144] J.J. Truglio, D.L. Croteau, M. Skorvaga, M.J. DellaVecchia, K. Theis, B.S. Mandavilli, B. Van Houten, C. Kisker, Interactions between UvrA and UvrB: the role of UvrB's domain 2 in nucleotide excision repair, EMBO J. 23 (2004) 2498–2509.
- [145] S. Thiagalingam, L. Grossman, Both ATPase sites of *Escherichia coli* UvrA have functional roles in nucleotide excision repair, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 11395–11403.
- [146] S. Thiagalingam, L. Grossman, The multiple roles for ATP in the *Escherichia coli* UvrABC endonuclease-catalyzed incision reaction, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 18382–18389.
- [147] A. Sancar, G.B. Sancar, DNA repair enzymes, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 57 (1988) 29–67.
- [148] D.K. Orren, C.P. Selby, J.E. Hearst, A. Sancar, Post-incision steps of nucleotide excision repair in *Escherichia coli*. Disassembly of the UvrBC–DNA complex by helicase II and DNA polymerase I, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 780–788.
- [149] G.F. Moolenaar, R. Visse, M. Ortiz-Buysse, N. Goosen, P. van de Putte, Helicase motifs V and VI of the *Escherichia coli* UvrB protein of the UvrABC endonuclease are essential for the formation of the preincision complex, J. Mol. Biol. 240 (1994) 294–307.
- [150] T.W. Seeley, L. Grossman, Mutations in the *Escherichia coli* UvrB ATPase motif compromise excision repair capacity, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86 (1989) 6577–6581.
- [151] D.S. Hsu, S.T. Kim, Q. Sun, A. Sancar, Structure and function of the UvrB protein, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 8319–8327.
- [152] G.F. Moolenaar, L. Hoglund, N. Goosen, Clue to damage recognition by UvrB: residues in the beta-hairpin structure prevent binding to non-damaged DNA, EMBO J. 20 (2001) 6140–6149.
- [153] G.F. Moolenaar, K.L. Franken, D.M. Dijkstra, J.E. Thomas-Oates, R. Visse, P. van de Putte, N. Goosen, The C-terminal region of the UvrB protein of *Escherichia coli* contains an important determinant for UvrC binding to the preincision complex but not the catalytic site for 3'-incision, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 30508–30515.
- [154] G.F. Moolenaar, K.L. Franken, P. van de Putte, N. Goosen, Function of the homologous regions of the *Escherichia coli* DNA excision repair proteins UvrB and UvrC in stabilization of the UvrBC–DNA complex and in 3'-incision, Mutat. Res. 385 (1997) 195–203.
- [155] M. Sohi, A. Alexandrovich, G. Moolenaar, R. Visse, N. Goosen, X. Vernede, J.C. Fontecilla-Camps, J. Champness, M.R. Sanderson, Crystal structure of *Escherichia coli* UvrB

116

C-terminal domain, and a model for UvrB-uvrC interaction, FEBS Lett. 465 (2000) 161–164.

- [156] E. Arikan, M.S. Kulkarni, D.C. Thomas, A. Sancar, Sequences of the *E. coli* uvrB gene and protein, Nucleic Acids Res. 14 (1986) 2637–2650.
- [157] P.R. Caron, L. Grossman, Potential role of proteolysis in the control of UvrABC incision, Nucleic Acids Res. 16 (1988) 10903–10912.
- [158] E.L. Hildebrand, L. Grossman, Oligomerization of the UvrB nucleotide excision repair protein of *Escherichia coli*, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 27885–27890.
- [159] A.E. Gorbalenya, E.V. Koonin, A.P. Donchenko, V.M. Blinov, Two related superfamilies of putative helicases involved in replication, recombination, repair and expression of DNA and RNA genomes, Nucleic Acids Res. 17 (1989) 4713–4730.
- [160] K. Theis, M. Skorvaga, M. Machius, N. Nakagawa, B. Van Houten, C. Kisker, The nucleotide excision repair protein UvrB, a helicase-like enzyme with a catch, Mutat. Res. 460 (2000) 277–300.
- [161] L. Grossman, S. Thiagalingam, Nucleotide excision repair, a tracking mechanism in search of damage, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 16871–16874.
- [162] C.P. Selby, A. Sancar, Molecular mechanism of transcriptionrepair coupling, Science 260 (1993) 53–58.
- [163] G.F. Moolenaar, R.S. Uiterkamp, D.A. Zwijnenburg, N. Goosen, The C-terminal region of the *Escherichia coli* UvrC protein, which is homologous to the C-terminal region of the human ERCC1 protein, is involved in DNA binding and 5'incision, Nucleic Acids Res. 26 (1998) 462–468.
- [164] S. Singh, G.E. Folkers, A.M. Bonvin, R. Boelens, R. Wechselberger, A. Niztayev, R. Kaptein, Solution structure and DNAbinding properties of the C-terminal domain of UvrC from *E. coli*, EMBO J. 21 (2002) 6257–6266.
- [165] E. Seeberg, Reconstitution of an *Escherichia coli* repair endonuclease activity from the separated uvrA+ and uvrB+/uvrC+ gene products, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75 (1978) 2569–2573.
- [166] E. Seeberg, R.P. Fuchs, Acetylaminofluorene bound to different guanines of the sequence -GGCGCC- is excised with different efficiencies by the UvrABC excision nuclease in a pattern not correlated to the potency of mutation induction, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87 (1990) 191–194.
- [167] E. Delagoutte, E. Bertrand-Burggraf, J. Dunand, R.P. Fuchs, Sequence-dependent modulation of nucleotide excision repair: the efficiency of the incision reaction is inversely correlated with the stability of the pre-incision UvrB–DNA complex, J. Mol. Biol. 266 (1997) 703–710.
- [168] T. Nishino, K. Morikawa, Structure and function of nucleases in DNA repair: shape, grip and blade of the DNA scissors, Oncogene 21 (2002) 9022–9032.
- [169] L. Aravind, D.R. Walker, E.V. Koonin, Conserved domains in DNA repair proteins and evolution of repair systems, Nucleic Acids Res. 27 (1999) 1223–1242.

- [170] J.J. Truglio, B. Rhau, D.L. Croteau, L. Wang, M. Skorvaga, E. Karakas, M.J. DellaVecchia, H. Wang, B. Van Houten, C. Kisker, Structural Insights into the first incision reaction during nucleotide excision repair, EMBO J. (2005).
- [171] A.R. Fernandez De Henestrosa, T. Ogi, S. Aoyagi, D. Chafin, J.J. Hayes, H. Ohmori, R. Woodgate, Identification of additional genes belonging to the LexA regulon in *Escherichia coli*, Mol. Microbiol. 35 (2000) 1560–1572.
- [172] B. Van Houten, J.A. Eisen, P.C. Hanawalt, A cut above: discovery of an alternative excision repair pathway in bacteria, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 2581–2583.
- [173] R. Dip, U. Camenisch, H. Naegeli, Mechanisms of DNA damage recognition and strand discrimination in human nucleotide excision repair, DNA Repair (Amst) 3 (2004) 1409– 1423.
- [174] M.T. Hess, U. Schwitter, M. Petretta, B. Giese, H. Naegeli, Bipartite substrate discrimination by human nucleotide excision repair, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94 (1997) 6664–6669.
- [175] N. Buschta-Hedayat, T. Buterin, M.T. Hess, M. Missura, H. Naegeli, Recognition of nonhybridizing base pairs during nucleotide excision repair of DNA, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96 (1999) 6090–6095.
- [176] R.E. Dickerson, DNA bending: the prevalence of kinkiness and the virtues of normality, Nucleic Acids Res. 26 (1998) 1906–1926.
- [177] R.E. Dickerson, T.K. Chiu, Helix bending as a factor in protein/DNA recognition, Biopolymers 44 (1997) 361–403.
- [178] E.Y. Oh, L. Grossman, The effect of *Escherichia coli* Uvr protein binding on the topology of supercoiled DNA, Nucleic Acids Res. 14 (1986) 8557–8571.
- [179] B.T. Smith, A.D. Grossman, G.C. Walker, Localization of UvrA and effect of DNA damage on the chromosome of *Bacillus subtilis*, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 488–493.
- [180] C.G. Lin, O. Kovalsky, L. Grossman, DNA damage-dependent recruitment of nucleotide excision repair and transcription proteins to *Escherichia coli* inner membranes, Nucleic Acids Res. 25 (1997) 3151–3158.
- [181] J. Courcelle, A. Khodursky, B. Peter, P.O. Brown, P.C. Hanawalt, Comparative gene expression profiles following UV exposure in wild-type and SOS-deficient *Escherichia coli*, Genetics 158 (2001) 41–64.
- [182] J. Wojcik, I.G. Boneca, P. Legrain, Prediction, assessment and validation of protein interaction maps in bacteria, J. Mol. Biol. 323 (2002) 763–770.
- [183] A. Alexandrovich, M. Czisch, T.A. Frenkiel, G.P. Kelly, N. Goosen, G.F. Moolenaar, B.Z. Chowdhry, M.R. Sanderson, A.N. Lane, Solution structure, hydrodynamics and thermodynamics of the UvrB C-terminal domain, J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 19 (2001) 219–236.
- [184] M.S. Dillingham, P. Soultanas, P. Wiley, M.R. Webb, D.B. Wigley, Defining the roles of individual residues in the singlestranded DNA binding site of PcrA helicase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 8381–8387.